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Tuesday, September 16, 2014

--- On commencing at 9:07 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, Mr. Rogers.  Do you have a new panel up for us today?


MR. ROGERS:  I do indeed, sir.  If they can be sworn, I'll lead their evidence.


MR. QUESNELLE:  All right.

HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 4

Henri Andre, Affirmed.


Stan But, Affirmed.


John Bolt, Affirmed.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Rogers.

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Rogers:

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Andre, perhaps I can start with you.  I understand, sir, that you have filed your curriculum vitae at Exhibit A, tab 23, schedule 2, page 7.


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  You can confirm for us, please, that this is an accurate reflection of your experience?


MR. ANDRE:  It is.


MR. ROGERS:  Very briefly, I understand that you hold a Bachelor of Applied Science from the University of Toronto and a Master of Applied Science degree from that same institution.


MR. ANDRE:  Correct.


MR. ROGERS:  You've worked with the old Ontario Hydro and successor companies for many years, beginning back in 1986?


MR. ANDRE:  That's right.


MR. ROGERS:  You've worked your way through various functions in the corporation and in 2006 became manager of transmission rates, regulatory affairs corporate and regulatory affairs?


MR. ANDRE:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  2008 to 2010 you became manager, rate applications, regulatory affairs corporate, and regulatory affairs with the company?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Your present position is as manager of transmission and distribution pricing, regulatory affairs corporate, and regulatory affairs with the company?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Can you confirm for us, Mr. Andre, that you have reviewed the evidence for which you are responsible and that so far as you are aware it's a fair and accurate summary of the company's affairs?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, I have reviewed and prepared the evidence, and it is an accurate representation.


MR. ROGERS:  Right.  And I understand that your role today will be to answer questions dealing generally with cost allocation and rate design issues.


MR. ANDRE:  That's right.


MR. ROGERS:  Now, may I just deal briefly with your colleague, Mr. But.  Your CV is filed at Exhibit A, tab 23, schedule 2, page 9.


MR. BUT:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  And it's an accurate reflection of your qualifications, sir?


MR. BUT:  It is.


MR. ROGERS:  You are a graduate of York University with a Masters of Business Administration degree, among others?


MR. BUT:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  You worked in various capacities before joining the Ontario Hydro group of companies back in, I think, 1986?


MR. BUT:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Where you were employed as an economist in economics and forecast division of the company.


MR. BUT:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  As set out in your CV, you have moved up through the organization, and your present position is manager, economics and load forecasting?


MR. BUT:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  You've held that position since 2002?


MR. BUT:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  And I think you've testified before this Board on a number of occasions dealing with load forecasting issues.


MR. BUT:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  In this proceeding you'll be answering questions about load forecasting, CDM, and -- that is conservation and demand management -- and economic indicators issues --


MR. BUT:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  -- dealing with those topics; is that right?


MR. BUT:  That's right.


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Andre, you've also testified before this Board on -- for cost allocation issues previously, haven't you?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, on two occasions.


MR. ROGERS:  Now, finally, I'll ask you that, if I requested you prepare a very brief summary of your views concerning the evidence of Mr. Marcus, who filed evidence on behalf of the Green Energy Coalition, I believe.


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, I did.


MR. ROGERS:  And you did the same, I think, Mr. But?


MR. BUT:  Yes, we did.


MR. ROGERS:  Those comments have been filed as Exhibit 5.2 in these proceedings, and they accurately reflect your overview, general comments on the evidence of Mr. Marcus, do they?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, I think that's a good characterization.  We didn't necessarily look at all the -- at least I didn't -- all of the details, but that's an overall view of the evidence.


MR. ROGERS:  Right.  All right.  You wanted to give the Board your impressions at a high level about his comments.


MR. ANDRE:  Correct.


MR. ROGERS:  And you're prepared to answer questions concerning that additional filed evidence.


MR. ANDRE:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  I think those are my questions, sir.  The panel is available for questioning.  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Rogers.


I guess first, maybe we should deal with -- you just brought up the evidence that -- or the comments that were put together by your witnesses on the Marcus evidence.


Ms. Lea, on that, we might as well spend a little time talking about schedule and whether or not this panel -- this panel has reviewed the comments from Mr. But and Mr. Andre, and given that ground, this panel has no reason to question Mr. Marcus any further.  I don't know what else has transpired as to whether or not there is a need.  I believe that GEC no longer sees a need to --


MS. LEA:  Yes, my understanding from my communications with Mr. Poch is that he does not intend to call Mr. Marcus, or at least to bring him here.  If he has any response he will file it in writing, and that the only other party that wished to cross-examine Mr. Marcus was not interested in bringing him up if that was the only cross-examination to be conducted.


So my understanding is that no one is seeking to bring that witness forward at this time.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Well, as I just mentioned, the Board Panel doesn't have any need, seeing the evidence and seeing the ground that's been covered, to question Mr. Marcus, so I guess we'll make that arrangement and let Mr. Poch know that his witness need not appear.


MS. LEA:  Thank you very much, sir.  I will let him know immediately.


The other person who will be appearing is Mr. Ted Cowan, and I have suggest -- I'm suggesting that he appear on Thursday morning.  I'm presuming this panel may finish by that time, but if not I would presume -- I would suggest that we set a time in any event for Mr. Cowan to appear.


And do I understand correctly that we will be convening at 10:30 on Thursday morning and not at 9:00?


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, the Panel has other engagements early that morning.  So we'll commence at 10:30 Thursday morning, and if I'm hearing your suggestion, Ms. Lea, we will have Mr. Cowan up first --


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  -- irrespective of where we are in the cross-examination of this panel, because he has a fixed time that we can -- anyone who is interested in Mr. Cowan's testimony will know that he will be here at 10:30, and we'll do that right off the start on Thursday morning.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


I think also that we have one person -- Mr. McGee, you put in an appearance the first day, didn't you?  You were here the first day.


MR. McGEE:  Yes.  Yes.


MS. LEA:  So I think Mr. Hurley is appearing for the first time in this hearing, and Mr. Hurley, if you could just introduce yourself to the panel, please, and we can take your name.


MR. HURLEY:  Patrick Hurley.  I am the president of a company called a 7H company, which represents four cottages on a lake in Kearney, Ontario, and interested in the rates.  I'm also president of the Halton Condominium Corporation in Oakville.  It's a 22-storey high-rise condominium with 410 units, and all of us are stuck with forced-air electric heating.  My only comment.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Hurley.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I think those are the only preliminary matters I have, and I understand that Mr. DeRose has volunteered to lead the cross-examination this morning.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. McGee, yes.


MS. LEA:  Oh, pardon me, Mr. McGee?


MR. McGEE:  Yes, I would appreciate it, because I do have other commitments.


MS. LEA:  Oh, Mr. DeRose, are you okay with that?


MR. McGEE:  Oh, no, ten, 15 minutes maximum.  Yeah.


MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yeah, thank you.

Cross-Examination by Mr. McGee:

MR. McGEE:  Okay.  I guess my questions are mainly directed to Henri, and first of all I want to deal with Ontario Regulation 442/01, which defines who is eligible to get rural and remote rate protection, and the key words in there in this regulation are "residences that are continuously occupied for at least eight months of the year".  There is no reference in that regulation to consumption.  It's strictly based on occupancy for eight months.


Now, Hydro One in your proposed change to the seasonal class definition has taken a somewhat different tack in defining who is eligible for RRRP based on consumption and not occupancy, consumption being at least 960 kilowatt-hours for ten months of the year or 9,600 kilowatt-hours for the whole year.


Now, Hydro One's proposal basically is to take 11,000 seasonal customers over the 9,600 kilowatt hour per year mark and move them to the R1 and R2 classes.  Now, of course the R2 class, everyone currently in the R2 class is eligible for RRRP.  But these new seasonal customers going into the R2 class, there is no assurance that they, in fact, are eligible if their residences are occupied continuously for eight months of the year.

So you're putting customers into the R2 class that may or may not be clearly eligible for RRRP, and the only way you could ever resolve that is to question each one individually and ask them to swear that they occupy that residence for eight months of the year.  Otherwise you're in violation of the regulation.

Now, the regulation of course is made by the government.  The OEB cannot change it.  Hydro One cannot change it.  It's a pretty rock-solid definition of who gets RRRP, and my contention is that the ones that you're planning on moving into R2, most of them probably wouldn't meet the definition, in the regulation.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. McGee, I just want to ask.  A lot of framework here, and I appreciate that, but --


MR. McGEE:  Oh, yeah, and now my question comes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  You do have a question?  Okay.

MR. McGEE:  Yes.  Have you taken any sampling of the seasonals going into the R2 class, to see if the residences are indeed continuously occupied for eight months as required by the regulation?  That is, have you questioned any of these customers?

MR. ANDRE:  So have we questioned these customers?  The answer is no.  Our proposal around those 11,000 moving into the -- or being eligible for RRRP is really tied around two things.  One is that -- because they are seasonal, Mr. McGee.  So I don't think -- even if we questioned them, I think the answer that would come back is:  We are seasonal customers.

But their consumption pattern -- or, sorry, I shouldn't say that they're seasonal customers.  Because their consumption pattern, the reason that we are proposing they be eligible for RRRP is, when you look at their pattern of consumption and their volume of consumption, they are essentially equivalent or very similar to a year-round residential.

So we are basing this proposal on the fact that, from a consumption and a usage standpoint, they look like a year-round residential.  We also made this proposal because we're only dealing with 11,000 seasonal that would move to the residential classes, and so we were hoping to, from administrative ease implementation of this, if they're moving into the R2 class, currently all customers in the R2 class get the RRRP.  Our billing system is set up to provide that RRRP credit to all R2 customers.  If we move those in and somehow had a special requirement that they wouldn't be eligible for RRRP, it would mean making changes to our billing system.  So administrative ease was another reason for doing that.

But we recognize that it is somewhat stretching the definition that's in the Ontario regulation, and we would be in the hands of the Board in terms of whether that would be appropriate or not.

MR. McGEE:  Okay.  My next question on the same line is:  Did Hydro One consider that many seasonal residences use large amounts of electricity in the wintertime for minimal space heating, water pipe heat lines and bubblers, even though the building is not occupied?  In short, they use electricity just to keep things from freezing up, even though the building is not occupied.  Did you consider that many of those over 9,600 kilowatt-hour customers are, in fact, what I just described?

MR. ANDRE:  So the requirement is a two-part requirement, the 9,600 over the whole year and then a certain minimum amount for at least ten months of the year.

And I'll have Mr. But comment on how that aligns with their consumption being similar to that of a year-round residential.

MR. BUT:  Mr. McGee, the criteria we use is -- for the customers that we are moving away from seasonal customers to regular residential customers, the other criteria we use is their consumption for each one have to be at least 600 kilowatt-hours.

MR. McGEE:  Okay.  600? I thought it was 960.  Anyway, that's new information.

MR. BUT:  This is -- we have several criteria.  One is on an annual basis the total consumption is 96,000 –- 9,600 kilowatt-hours.  That is the equivalent of 800 kilowatt-hours per month.

Another criteria is each month they have to be at least 600 kilowatt-hours for ten months.

MR. McGEE:  Okay.  Thank you.

If the Board approved this definition change, would Hydro One be tracking those seasonals that were moved into the year-round classes to see which ones dropped below 9,600 kilowatt-hours?  If they dropped below 9,600 kilowatt-hours, would they bounce back to the seasonal class, or do they remain there forever?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, Mr. McGee, that question was raised at the technical conference.  I think Mr. Harper asked that.  And I believe the response I gave was that although we haven't worked out the details, certainly for general service customers we do an annual check if they're above 50 kilowatts or below 50 kilowatts to see what general service class they belong to.

And so I think we would extend that same check to make sure that they're meeting not just the 9,600 but also the 600 kilowatts per month for at least ten months of the year.  So yes, the answer is we would check that too to see if they should no longer qualify for being in the year-round residential class.

MR. McGEE:  So -- thank you.

So that would be done on an annual basis, so that a customer may be year-round one year, seasonal the next year, year-round the following year, but anyway it would be done on an annual basis, the same as do you for your general service?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes.  The general service I know is done annually.  Like I said, we hadn't really worked out the details of how the check would work for seasonal.

I think we'd look to take direction from the Board on this, but an annual check might seem reasonable.

MR. McGEE:  Okay.  Thank you.

That's -- I think that covers my questions on, you know, the alignment, being your definition and the regulation.  And there is a clear disconnect in my -- as you realize, that there is a stretch.

I would like to refer to Hydro One's regulatory filing of September the 2nd.  And in that, there was an amended response to FOCA's Interrogatory 6.  It added about $10 million to the revenue requirement of the seasonal class, and subtracted a similar amount from the R4 class.

Now, I was given a very quick response from Mr. Allan Cowan, but it never got on the public record.  So could you just, in your own words, explain why that very significant change was made?  It adds about 10 percent to the revenue requirement of the seasonal class, and that's quite significant.

I have the answer from Mr. Cowan, but I thought it would be wise for the Board to hear your answer.

MR. ROGERS:  We're just waiting to get this up on the screen, Mr. McGee.  Do you need this, Mr. Andre?

MR. ANDRE:  No, I have it in front of me so I can certainly provide a response.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Which document is it?

MR. ANDRE:  Tab 701, schedule 8, FOCA 6.

MR. QUESNELLE:  I have a compilation of all the things filed on the 2nd, so I'll wait for it to come up.

MR. ANDRE:  Yes.  Okay.  So an update to that FOCA 6 response was provided as part of the package.

MR. ROGERS:  Apparently we're having trouble finding it to put it on the screen.  So if the witness could answer the question, Mr. Andre, and give us references to the exhibits, if need be, so we can check it later.  Would you?

MS. GIRVAN:  If I might interject, it was in the middle of that package that was filed on September 2nd.  There's some large documents in that one.  It was kind of in the middle.

MR. ANDRE:  Essentially, it's one page and there is a table in the centre, in the middle of the...

MR. McGEE:  Yeah, there were only two key numbers changed, and that was the revenue requirement for the seasonal, which went up by about 10 million, and the R2 went down by a similar amount.  So...

MR. ANDRE:  Do you have it, Mr. Quesnelle?

MR. QUESNELLE:  I do, yes.

MR. ANDRE:  So the updated response -- what that interrogatory looks at is the scenario where those 11,000 seasonal customers are not moved.  So I call that a status quo, if the seasonal stayed as a status quo definition.

So in order to respond to the original interrogatory, we had to run a cost allocation model and do a rate design under this status quo scenario.

When we ran the model, the revenue to cost ratio for the seasonal class, if you leave -- let me back up.  Under our proposal the revenue to cost ratio for the seasonal class is below -- it's, I think, around .93.

When you run this status quo scenario, because those high-volume seasonal customers stay in the seasonal class, they attract a lot of revenue.  So the revenue to cost ratio for the seasonal class under this scenario is 1.03.  So under our proposal they should not have required any adjustment to their revenues because they're within the range, they're above 1, so there was no adjustment.

Unfortunately, the model that we were using was -- it was automatically adjusting the revenue to cost ratio to the number that was in our original proposal.  So it was adjusting that 1.03 all the way down to .94, and it was shifting revenue away from the seasonal class, which under this scenario it isn't necessary to do.

So the numbers that you see is -- so the rates revenue requirement under this scenario is 107.  Under the previous scenario $10 million had been shifted out of -- under the original FOCA 6, rather, $10 million had been shifted out.  That should not have been done.  So this just corrects that error in the rate design of the original status quo scenario filed under the original FOCA 6.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So it would have been 97 million, approximately?

MR. ANDRE:  Yeah, 97 million if you shifted that 10 million, but you didn't need to shift that 10 million, because the revenue to cost ratio under this scenario is 1.03.

MR. McGEE:  So another question, Henri.  This -- well, the answer may be obvious, but this -- would you agree that this is going to change the rates upward for the seasonal class and downward for the R4 class, this $10 million revenue shift?  We've not seen the rates that would fall out of this change, but I presume with all the other changes that may be in your package that we will eventually see the final rates that fall out from this change.

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, so Mr. McGee, this -- that table that's in this IR response shows you what under the seasonal status quo -- so if you don't move the 11,000, you leave it as a status quo, it shows you what the fixed and variable rate will be.

So for seasonal under the status quo scenario their fixed charge will be $30.08 per month and their volumetric charge would be $.0771 per kilowatt hour.  To your point, if you go to our evidence, you will see that as proposed, okay, the charges would be -- 2,657 would be the fixed charge, and the variable charge would be .0905.  So 9 cents instead of 7.7 cents.

So as filed and as proposed with moving the 11,000, it's in evidence what the fixed charges are in that rate design tab, which would be Exhibit G1, tab 4, schedule 1.  It includes a table that has the proposed fixed and variable charges.  And then this FOCA 6 gives you what the fixed and variable charges would be under the status quo seasonal scenario.

MR. McGEE:  Yeah, I'm sorry, I hadn't noticed that, or it just slipped my attention today.  But the rates are there very clear.

My next question has to do with the -- and this is my final question -- has to do with the series of focus groups that you held in the summer of 2013.  I think there were seven of them altogether held across cottage country, and they were run by an independent company.

And my question is this.  Did Hydro One have any -- did you have any of your staff at any of these meetings?

MR. ANDRE:  No, we did not.

MR. McGEE:  Didn't.  Do you have any reasonable assurance that the participants in those focus groups were properly apprised of the rate impacts of the proposals that they were being asked to vote on?  You know, it's a very -- cost allocation rate design is a very complex subject, and you really have to give all that information to people before they can decide on it.

So are you satisfied with the explanations that Citizen Optimum provided to the participants in these -- in these focus groups?

MR. ANDRE:  Right.  So Mr. McGee, as I said, no Hydro One staff participated in the actual focus groups, but you're absolutely right -- correct, in that understanding the current seasonal rates and the basis for those current rates and what happens under the various scenarios that they would be looking at is very important and is key.  So I was personally involved with the Citizen Optimum group to develop the presentation that would inform the focus-group participants before they started asking questions, so in the evidence there is the presentation that was filed that was given by Citizen Optimum, and I was very much involved in putting the framework around that presentation to make sure that, as you say, Mr. McGee the participants understood the complexities of the issue and clearly understood what options were being presented to them.

MR. McGEE:  Yeah, I was not a participant in any of these either, so it's very difficult for me to comment, but those are my questions.  Thank you very much.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. McGee.

Mr. Hurley, you made a request to go next, and the Board would entertain that if you would like to ask your questions.

MR. HURLEY:  I just want to clarify something.  My understanding that these hearings would ultimately result in requests for rate increases by Hydro One.  Am I correct?

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, there is a -- the proposal is to establish a revenue requirement and of that revenue requirement rates are set for all the rate classes, and there's proposals put forward in the evidence to -- that's how that would come about, yes.

MR. HURLEY:  Because I guess my purpose in intervening as an individual was to oppose, frankly, any rate increases proposed.  If I may, I'll just go through my suggestions and thoughts here, if I may.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, Mr. Hurley --


MR. HURLEY:  Keep it --


MR. QUESNELLE:  -- if you keep it short.  The actual purpose of today is to ask the witnesses questions on the evidence to gain a better understanding of what the proposal is so that then you could ultimately make a submission as to what you think should happen, given your understanding of the application.

So today is a cross-examination of witnesses to do exactly that, gain a better understanding of exactly what the company is proposing and how the rates may impact you in such a fashion that then you're able to make your submission, which would be arguing for what you think should happen based on your understanding of the evidence.

So it may be premature to present arguments today, but if you have some comments as to why you're interested and use that as framework for asking your questions, the Board would allow that.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Hurley:


MR. HURLEY:  Well, my ultimate interest is that, you know, I own a cottage, one of four, on Lynx Lake near Kearney, and I am, as I said, president of the 7H company which owns the property.  And I personally have had a horrendous experience with Hydro One and ended up getting a bill for $9,200 for one year after having paid the amounts that they previously billed us, the three billings, and ended up having to pay $4,800 off over two years.

So you can see why I'm a concerned person in terms of the rates, how they operate.  And I guess my basic suggestion is, I guess there's two years that concern me.  One is the billing for delivery to cottages when they're closed down for the winter.  And what I will submit in writing is that I suggest that either the Board direct Hydro One or that they have the right to ask owners to stop delivering the hydro between, let's say, October and May or whatever it is.  Because to me it's just unjust being billed for something that you don't use, can't use, because you're not there.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Hurley, perhaps this would be of some assistance.  Could I turn that into a question for you and put it to the panel?

Mr. Hurley has made the proposal that if you're not receiving electricity, that there not be any rates charged for it.  Either one of the witnesses have a comment as to what the grounds for charging a customer for rates when there is no consumption, what the grounds for that would be?


MR. ANDRE:  So there may not be any consumption if you're not using the cottage, but all of the poles required to support the conductors that deliver electricity to that cottage when it needs it are still there in the summer.  Asking to stop delivery doesn't mean that we can then turn around and get rid of all of those poles and get rid of all the conductors.

So those assets required to serve you are still there, and need to be paid for by someone.  If we don't have these seasonal customers who drove the installation of those assets pay for those costs, then other rate classes would have to pay for those costs.

So we believe our proposal that charges the full cost of having those assets there for the full year is the appropriate way to go, and in line with cost causality principles.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Hurley, you've heard their response.  And if that gives you a better understanding what the company's proposal is and their justification, then in your submission subsequent to today you can make the argument as to why you think that's appropriate or not.  So that's kind of the exchange that we expect to see today.


MR. HURLEY:  No, I thank you for that direction.

There are regular people living there year-round who are paying for that upkeep, so it's not like no one is paying for it.  It's just that I don't believe we should be charged for something that we are not using, and we should have the option of saying:  I do not want it delivered during that period.

That was my only point, and I'll put that in writing.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. HURLEY:  The other point I wanted to bring up -- and I don't know whether this is appropriate, and you can tell me.  But it seems to me that before requesting any rate increases, Hydro One should look at their operating costs.

I've been in broadcasting for over 50 years -- sales, marketing, manager, station owner -- and you can cut your operating cost by 10 percent and nobody will notice it.  Not a thing.

And all I'm wondering is have you ever suggested cutting your operating costs before coming before the OEB to ask for rate increases?


MR. ANDRE:  So the panel that was on before us, panel 3, I think did a very thorough examination prompted by the questions of intervenors on what is driving our costs, the productivities and efficiencies that we've undertaken to keep those costs down.  So absolutely we're looking for those productivities and efficiencies all the time.

And the two days that panel 3 spent on here, and panel 2 to some extent as well, also talked about productivities and efficiencies.  They presented that evidence that would support the questions that you're asking, and I would encourage you to look at the transcript and see if that gives you satisfaction in terms of what Hydro One is doing to keep its cost down.

MR. HURLEY:  Because, you know, as a lay person, we hear the media reporting that you have 11,000 employees making over $100,000 a year.  I don't know whether that's true or not, but that certainly has an impact on me and my attitude toward Hydro and their operating costs.

Is that fact?


MR. ANDRE:  That's sort of outside my area of expertise.  Again, I know that questions on compensation were asked of the previous panels.


MR. HURLEY:  Okay.  The other -- I'll put this suggestion.  I mentioned that I was the president of Halton Condominium Corporation.  I have a forced-air electric furnace at the cottage.  We have 210 units that cannot switch or do not have the opportunity to switch to natural gas.

And what I would like to see Hydro One do is give some kind of consideration to a discount for these people.  And most of them are seniors living on fixed incomes.  Between, let's say, October and April, maybe 30 percent discount their hydro.

We run into a situation in our condominium where we switched to smart meters.  We were told we had to do it by 2010.  We did it, worked with Oakville Hydro to do it.  And then the province came back and said:  Oh, no, you didn't have to switch.

Now, I think it's been a good thing to switch to smart meters because now we see usage by individuals, whereas before we got one big bill and it was just put into the rates.


But we've run into situations where three units side by side, one gets a bill the same month for $60, one gets one for 200, and one gets one for 520.  So we approached Oakville Hydro, and this week they have come in and they are testing a number of these smart meters to see why we have these dramatic differences.


I mean, I can see, you know, an older person having the heat at 85.  I understand that.  But I can't understand how another person can have one at $60.  So there's tremendous differences there, which we're working on.

So that's why I'm suggesting some kind of relief for people stuck with forced-air electric furnaces during the winter months.  And I can put that in my suggestions as well.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. HURLEY:  The other thing is about these individual rates, just to close off here.  This is from my wife.

Back in 1962, I married an Irish girl from Mimico, Maureen O'Donnell.  She was the oldest of nine children.  Dinner was always served at six o'clock.  After we were married for 50 years, we were always having dinner at six o'clock, until recently.  Now you've got the debate.  So we have to eat either before five or after seven.

Do you have any idea what it's like living with a person whose modus operandi has been disturbed after 50 years?

[Laughter]

MR. HURLEY:  Please.  She can be very prickly at times because of this.

Those are my thoughts.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Hurley.

If the witnesses have any suggestions, or no?  Thank you, Mr. Hurley.   Mr. DeRose?

Cross-Examination by Mr. DeRose:


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Thank you, panel.

Panel, I wanted to start this morning -- I'm going to start at sort of the 100,000-foot level, talk about where rate smoothing and rate mitigation fits into cost allocation rate design sort of at a high level just for a couple of minutes, and then I'm going to move down into the actual proposed rate impacts and talk about that.

First of all, just starting with -- during your cost -- when you undertake a cost allocation, so you are functionalizing, categorizing and allocating, at that stage does rate mitigation come into play?  Are you looking at rate mitigation during those three processes?


MR. ANDRE:  No.  Those three processes input the revenue requirement as identified by the company, and then goes through those three steps to come up with a cost of serving and a revenue to cost ratio associated with each class.


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.

So then when you come to the rate design stage, that would be the stage where you look at:  We'll start with rate impact mitigation; correct?


MR. ANDRE:  In this case, it's actually that smoothing rider which is the form of rate mitigation that we've proposed.  It actually comes in at the time when you calculate the riders and apply those riders and then look at the total bill.

The rate design that follows on the cost allocation, again, is just a determination of what fixed charges to use, how are the revenue to cost ratios, do they -- are they within the Board-approved range?  Are there any revenue adjustments required to make sure all rate classes fall within the Board-approved range?  And then the rates, unmitigated, that come out of that.

So -- and then the mitigation happens.  Okay.  So now that we know these rates, what mitigation can we do?  And in this case, we have a rider that we've calculated associated with the smoothing revenues for each of those -- the five years of the application.


MR. DeROSE:  Perhaps we can just take a step back.  As I understand your evidence, there are -- well, first of all, do you consider the rate-smoothing proposal to be rate mitigation?


MR. ANDRE:  Bill impact mitigation, rate impact mitigation, yes.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And as I understand it, during your -- you did consider as rate impact mitigation separate from the rate smoothing -- we'll put the smoothing aside for a second -- you did consider whether any particular customer rate classes were over the 10 percent threshold, right?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes.


MR. DeROSE:  So that was separate and apart from the rate-smoothing?


MR. ANDRE:  The 10 percent is on total bill impact.  So the 10 percent would be after -- you know, on total bill, including all of the riders, so that 10 percent consideration is including the riders, the impact of the riders.


MR. DeROSE:  Right.  So that 10 percent was after the smoothing was applied, not after the smoothing was applied?


MR. ANDRE:  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So if I can then turn you -- if we can pull up on to the screen -- it's CME Interrogatory No. 8.  It's Exhibit I, tab 2.01, schedule 5, CME 8.


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, I have that.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  So in this interrogatory we were trying to get an understanding of what the anticipated total bill impact was going to be for customers.  And we asked you if you were able to anticipate the changes and elements of the total bill, so this would include not only distribution and transmission changes, but also other components, including the global adjustment, OPG costs, et cetera.


And we'll start here.  Your answer was that you did not have the information on anticipated changes to all elements of the total bill, other than the distribution component and Hydro One's impact on the transmission component.


Are you able to help us with whether there is any entity in the Province of Ontario that would have all that information that would be needed to estimate the total bill with known information at a certain -- is there anyone out there that would have it?


MR. ANDRE:  I was asking my colleague if he was aware whether the OPA -- I mean, I think that's the only entity I can think of that might have a line of sight to -- because they're looking at future generation development, they manage the GEA -- the GA books and some of the contributors that go into the GA.


So that's about the only entity I can think of that might have a line of sight to what's going to happen on commodity prices.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, in terms, if I can then take to you page 2 of 2 of that interrogatory.  Now, first of all, as I understand it, in the line for each year that says "change in total bill", that has been calculated -- first of all, it takes into consideration the proposed changes to your distribution rate, correct?


MR. ANDRE:  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Does it also in this interrogatory take into consideration elements of your transmission rates?


MR. ANDRE:  That's correct.  That's exactly what this interrogatory did, as it layered that on top of --


MR. DeROSE:  What element of your transmission rates does it take into consideration?  Is it the existing at the time, or is it what you anticipate your transmission rates are going to be for 2015?


MR. ANDRE:  It -- the latter.  It takes into account -- it uses the -- our business planning forecast of the transmission increases, not only in '15, but in '16, '17, '18, and '19.  So it layers in that transmission increase on to -- what it does is it adjusts -- because on a distribution bill transmission flows in through retail transmission service rates, RTSR rates, and so it adjusts the RTSR, retail transmission service rates, for the anticipated increase in transmission due to just Hydro One.  As you know, transmission, there are other transmitters, so we only factor --


MR. DeROSE:  Fair enough.


MR. ANDRE:  -- in Hydro One's component.


MR. DeROSE:  I'm sorry, I should have been a little bit more specific.  I actually was assuming it was only Hydro One's transmission.


But in terms of other elements of the total bill, you are just maintaining it as a constant; is that right?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, and, you know, as per the filing requirements of the Board -- and I think we had an undertaking that asked us to factor in the OPG estimated increases, and so I know we referenced the specific section in the Board's filing requirements.


But the Board's filing requirements specifically say to hold all elements other than the distribution component costs.


MR. DeROSE:  Fair enough.  But I think that -- well, can we agree that, for instance -- and I'm just using this as an example -- if we take general service electricity, so the GSE, it's showing for 2015 change in distribution bill, 8.3 percent, a change in total bill, 3.5 percent.


Can we agree that if we anticipate that there will be increases in costs and other elements, the global adjustment, OPG costs, et cetera, that the total bill will not be 3.5 percent, it will be something bigger.  You can't say what it is, but it would be something bigger than that.


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, I agree to that.


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you.


Now, this chart that you've prepared -- and it was in your evidence.  You've updated it to include the transmission -- this incorporates the smoothing proposal, correct?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, it does.


MR. DeROSE:  And so again, if the Board were to not approve your smoothing proposal, as I understand it, for 2015 the change in distribution bill and the change in total bill would be much higher; is that right?


MR. ANDRE:  I don't know about the characterization of "much higher", but, yes, they would be higher.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And I've tried to find in the evidence whether there was any assessment of what the change in distribution bill and total bill would be without smoothing.  Has that been prepared anywhere?


MR. ANDRE:  It's -- no, it's not in the evidence.  I know that it did come up as a question to Ms. Frank on panel 1.  So we have looked -- we have prepared a sheet that -- or, sorry, the equivalent of this table, if you will, if you considered unsmoothed bill impacts.


MR. DeROSE:  You --


MR. ANDRE:  If that would be of value.  I mean, I can --


MR. DeROSE:  You read my mind.


[Laughter]


MR. ANDRE:  Oh, if you would -- I could certainly quote, you know, the -- some of the changes, and that's why I disagreed with your characterization of significant impacts.  You mentioned the GSE class before.  So the smoothed value, as you point out, is 3.5.  The unsmoothed total bill impact for 2015 would be 4.8.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And --


MR. ANDRE:  So --


MR. DeROSE:  -- if -- since you've already prepared that, is that something that you could distribute to us and file?


MR. ANDRE:  Sure, yeah.


MR. DeROSE:  And just so that I understand, have you redone this -- so you've just redone this chart on an unsmoothed basis.  Is that for all the years?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, it is for all the years.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And just so that I keep this moving -- I don't think I actually need to look at this to ask these questions, but can you tell us whether on an unsmoothed basis any of the rate classes that were under 10 on a smoothed basis are now over 10 on an unsmoothed basis?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, the streetlight and sentinel light classes that were -- so streetlight had 9.3 percent for the typical consumption level, and now it's at 11.3, and the sentinel light class was at 9.8 percent, and unsmoothed it would be 12.3.


MS. LEA:  Maybe I misunderstood.  Are we getting a filing?


MR. ANDRE:  I'm assuming it would be the undertaking that I would file this unsmoothed set of bill impacts.


MR. ROGERS:  He volunteered to do that on his own.


[Laughter]


MR. ANDRE:  I broke the cardinal rule.  I should have looked at Mr. Rogers.


MS. LEA:  Mr. Rogers, are you willing to confirm that?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  That will be J6.1, please.

UNDERTAKING NO. J6.1:  TO PROVIDE AN ASSESSMENT OF THE CHANGE IN THE DISTRIBUTION BILL AND TOTAL BILL WITHOUT SMOOTHING.


MR. DeROSE:  That's certainly service beyond and above.  Thank you very much.  That was actually going to be one of my undertaking requests in any event, so you anticipated where we were going.


Now, we have heard that there have been annual percentage increases.  They've been updated, but I believe the final number has been 6.3 percent per year, and that's on the revenue requirement.


Does that number sound right?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes.  On the total bottom-line basis, that sounds right.


MR. DeROSE:  And that was my question.  That 6.3 percent, that's the increase to the revenue requirement per year; is that right?


MR. ANDRE:  No.  It's the increase in revenues collected from customers.  So it isn't just revenue requirement; it also takes into account the rider and adder revenues that were being collected in '14 versus the rider revenues that are being collected in '15.


So the 6.3 figure includes the impact of riders as well.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  But the 6.3 percent does not translate into a 6.3 percent average increase for customer bills?


MR. ANDRE:  Across all customers -- across all customers on average, yes, it does, because the bill would also until include the change in rates, plus any new riders.  You know, the old riders coming off and the new riders coming on.


So that 6.3, on average across all classes, would translate into the customer bill impacts.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  But in terms of either -– well, we'll start with a rate class by rate class, and we still have the chart up here.


For instance, on -- well, we'll take a look at the UGE category.  It shows that the change in DX bill is 44.9 percent.  Do you see that?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, I see that.


MR. DeROSE:  So can we agree that rate class is going up by more than 6.3 percent?


MR. ANDRE:  Certainly.


MR. DeROSE:  Has that -- are you aware whether the level of increase to that rate class -- we'll use that as an example -- has been communicated to that rate class if there is a potential that it's 44.9 percent?


MR. ANDRE:  Certainly the communication of these values is in our prefiled evidence.  So in terms of what we're asking for, it's very clear in the evidence what that is.


But then actual communication with our customers, we would wait until the Board renders its decision in this case, in terms of what the actual impacts are going to be.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Now, in terms of -- and we'll stay with that particular rate class and the 44.9 percent increase.  Are you able to explain -- and you can keep it at a high level, but what are the main drivers which are causing that rate class's change in distribution bill to be almost 45 percent?


MR. ANDRE:  Right.  In terms of the difference from the 6.3 and how that translates into the impacts on a rate class basis, actually in the response to Interrogatory 7.07, schedule 11, Energy Probe 58, we gave -- you can turn it up if you want -- we gave a high-level response of the items that contribute to differences between the average and the specific impacts by rate class.  And it's really three basic things.


One is the overall increase in rates revenue requirement as a result of the new work programs and the costs of doing our work.  So the revenue requirement and the fact that the cost allocation model applies that revenue requirement increase that's required across all rate classes on a uniform basis.  So that's the one big source.


MR. DeROSE:  And if we can just stop there, if it is applied in a uniform basis, the revenue requirement should -- that in and of itself should not require -- should not result in one rate class going up 45 percent and one rate class going up 2 percent; correct?


MR. ANDRE:  Correct, other than the -- like I said, the bottom line impact.  Right?  Also includes -– actually, sorry, yeah, you're right.  That component on its own?  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  So that first component isn't driving the rate increase -- I was going to say discrepancy or differential.


MR. ANDRE:  Right.


MR. DeROSE:  So why don't you move on to the second driver?


MR. ANDRE:  The second one is the output from the cost allocation model when you compare the revenues that are being collected from each rate class, based on this uniform increase across all rate classes.  And you compare that to the costs that are allocated to that class per the Board's cost allocation methodology.


If there are any rate classes that are outside the range, then you have to make adjustments to the revenue collected from the classes.


And there certainly are large adjustments in the case of the UGE class.  Probably the best place to see that, Mr. DeRose, if I can point you to the rate design exhibit, so that's Exhibit G1, tab 4, schedule 1, is the rate exhibit.  But then the actual detail of the calculations is in G1, tab 4, schedule 2.


MR. DeROSE:  This is the derivation of the retail rates?


MR. ANDRE:  No, it's G1, tab 4, schedule 2.  It's the rate design that follows on the cost allocation.


And that's the 2015.  When you zoom it up you can see it better than that.  Yeah, that's not bad.


So as an example, so in this case you can see from column F that the results of the revenue to cost ratio, the results of the cost calculation model result in a revenue to cost ratio for the UR class of 1.29, for the R1 class, 1.23.  So those classes are paying more than their fair share.


So if you scroll to the right a little bit?  Okay.  Right there is good.


You can see that revenue in column I, revenue has to come off those classes that are above the Board's approved revenue to cost ratio range, and they're distributed to the other classes that are below 1.


So the UGE class, you can see their revenue to cost ratio is 0.71 and it needs to move up.  And the way that we've applied this adjustment is we've applied it to the revenue to cost ratio.  The class with the revenue to cost ratio lowest, farthest away from 1, bring them up and then bring the next set of classes that have a revenue to cost ratio less than 1.


So in the end, everybody that was less than 1 moved up to a revenue to cost ratio of 0.94.  And you can see for the UGE class, there was a $4.8 million in revenue that had to be shifted to that class as a result of aligning with the Board's revenue to cost ratio approved ranges.


So those adjustments -- and you can see in column J it results in various different impacts across the different rate classes.


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you very much for that.


MR. ANDRE:  Sorry, just to finish that off, then, in terms of the difference of the 6.3, the third one would have been the differences in riders and adder revenues that are collected.


So in 2014, you had a set of riders.  You also had the smart meter adder, which was a big component in 2014.  And now in 2015, the smart meter adder is no longer there.  Those costs have been rolled into our core revenue requirement.


So the difference in riders from '14 to '15 would be the other contributor to total bill impact.


MR. DeROSE:  In terms of those riders, those are really subject to a previous Board decision.  That's...


MR. ANDRE:  No, the disposition of them is -- yeah, the disposition and which classes attract which portion of the rider, those all follow as in our -- described in our evidence, all either follow current Board policy with regards to how to dispose of them in an IRM application like the EDVAR -- and I know we're not supposed to use acronyms, but the Board has rules around how to dispose of certain accounts, and then if it's not an existing rule, then it would be previously approved methodologies for disposing of those variance accounts.  So it's either one of those two...


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Now, in terms of, if I can take you back to CME No. 8, if we can go back to that chart, which was helpful.  If we just blow that up again.  And we'll just -- why don't we keep using the UGE just as an example.


So we have in 2015 is the year -- so we have 44.9 percent change in distribution bill and a 6.3 percent change in total bill.


Those percentages are an average for the entire rate class, correct?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. DeROSE:  And there would be a range in that rate class both above and below those averages for individual customers, correct?


MR. ANDRE:  Correct.


MR. DeROSE:  Have you undertaken any type of sensitivity analysis to try and get a feeling for how high the increases could be for an individual customer for each of the rate classes?


MR. ANDRE:  What would happen --


MR. DeROSE:  Put another way, how -- what's the worst-case scenario for a customer in each of these rate classes?


MR. ANDRE:  What we have provided, Mr. DeRose, is under the -- in the bill-impacts exhibit --


MR. DeROSE:  Tab 7, schedule 1 -- sorry, G1?


MR. ANDRE:  Right.  Exactly.  G1, tab 7, schedule 1, there are -- table 1 in that exhibit provides -- so we looked at the distribution -- consumption distribution of our customers in each of those classes and identified a high consumption level and a low consumption level associated with each customer class.


So the GSE, the typical consumption level -- or, sorry, the UGE that you've been using, so we've been looking at the one table that you've been referencing in CME 8 is based on 2,000 kilowatts consumption, but you can see that we looked at consumption of 15,000 kilowatts or 1,000 kilowatts.  That's the range that we looked at.


MR. DeROSE:  And so if we can just look at that chart, if we can move it over to the right a little bit -- well, actually, no, if we just stop right there.  Sorry, I'm on a different chart.  You said table 1, not table 2.


MR. ANDRE:  And that's table 1, yes.


MR. DeROSE:  And so when we do the low typical high, is it generally the high that will be the -- I guess it depends on the rate class; is that right?  So for UGE, if you are the lowest customer in the UGE class, you would have the highest percentage increase?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes.  And for the other classes it somewhat depends on, at the low level, the amount of fixed charge sort of becomes a factor in terms of the total bill impact.  So I think will depend across different rate classes.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  And let's just use UGE as an example.  Where we see the range between high typical and low between -- on total bill, 3.7 to 8.5 percent is the range -- do you have a high level of confidence that there will not be an outlier that will be materially above?  And again, our concern from a CME perspective is that suddenly we get a phone call from a manufacturer that instead of having an 8.5 percent increase has an 85 percent increase or a 25 percent increase.


Does the low typical high give us a -- does the Board -- what confidence level does the Board have that that is the range that will materialize?


MR. ANDRE:  Like I said, we picked those ranges based on looking at prior years' consumption levels for the customers in that class.  So we're quite confident that it represents a range -- a range within which -- I mean, would 100 percent of customers -- in that range?  100 percent is always a difficult number to predict.


There may be a customer that goes, you know, for whatever reason their business drops off and all of a sudden they're way -- their consumption is way out of the norm.  But in terms of the -- based on 2012 consumption ranges, then these -- this range adequately covers -- we're confident that adequately covers the full range of customers.


MR. DeROSE:  Thank you very much for that.


Now if I can have you turn to -- it's CME number 11, which is at Exhibit I, tab 2.01, schedule 5, CME 11.  And one of the questions that we asked here is, we actually asked, has Hydro One individually contacted every customer whose bill will be increased more than 10 percent, and the answer is that Hydro One has not contacted any individual customers about potential rate impacts.


I'm just wondering if you can explain to the Board why, when, if you identify -- the Board has identified a -- let's take it back a second.  We can agree that the Board has identified 10 percent as a threshold which at the very least has to be considered or rate mitigation has to be assessed whether it is or is not required?  Correct?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes.


MR. DeROSE:  If you know in advance that certain customers are going to be affected by 10 percent or more, why would you not set out communication specifically to those customers other than kind of the public filing of your rate application?


MR. ANDRE:  This application is a proposal, and really, whether all elements of what we've requested in terms of -- I mean, even beyond the revenue requirement that we have asked for, this application proposes a number of changes with respect to cost allocation and rate design, you know, the movement of the seasonal customers, changes to the fixed/variable split, a rate-class review, and tightening of the revenue to cost ratio ranges.  And the process for making adjustments to those revenue to cost ratio ranges, all of those things are going to impact the rates.  And I think it would be premature to get customers involved or concerned about a rate-impact thing that may not materialize, depending on the Board -- the decision the Board makes on the various aspects of our application.


MR. DeROSE:  Okay.  Thank you.  I'll move on.


I would then like to turn to -- again, I'm going back to issue 2.2.  It's now actually the CCC Interrogatory No. 10.  And the citation is Exhibit I, tab 2.02, schedule 10, CCC 10.


And in this interrogatory you'll see that CCC -- one of their questions was asking how Hydro One assesses what are acceptable bill impacts for customers.

And the first sentence of the response is:

"Hydro One's business plan target was to keep the average total bill impact across all customers at or near the rate of inflation."


So just stopping there, can we agree that the total bill impacts are not at or near the rate of inflation?


MR. ANDRE:  On a specific class basis?


MR. DeROSE:  On, I would suggest, both the average of 6.3 across the board is somewhere between two to three times inflation.  And if we look at it on a rate class by rate class, we have seen many rate classes up around 7, 8, 9.


MR. ANDRE:  Right.  The reference here was to total bill.  The 6.3 is the distribution impact, and then on a total bill basis that 6.3, typically a distribution bill for Hydro One is about a third of the total bill.  So a third of 6.3 gets you down to 2.1, which I believe is the figure that was used for business planning purposes.


MR. DeROSE:  But I take it that the goal is not to maintain the average distribution bill increase anywhere close to inflation?


MR. ANDRE:  And I believe there was an interrogatory that asked that.  In fact, I think it's the one just before that, so Exhibit I, tab 2.02, schedule 1, Staff 9 asked that question.  And I think we responded to your concern in that question.


MR. DeROSE:  And I recall this IR.  I took from this IR that it wasn't -- inflation wasn't the threshold or the target it was maintaining below 10 percent; is that -- is my gloss unfair?


MR. ANDRE:  The -- the 10 percent, that second paragraph, was in reference to where we would consider bill impact mitigation on a rate class, on an individual rate class basis.  The question definitely refers to the 2 percent bill -- total bill impact, and maybe it's a question of the phrasing.  But that second paragraph was referring to when do you need bill mitigation when you're in excess of 10 percent total bill.


MR. DeROSE:  Fair enough.  Thank you very much.  Those are all of my questions.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. DeRose.


Given the hour, why don't we take our morning break now?  And Mr. Janigan, will you be going next after the break?


MR. JANIGAN:  That would be fine.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  So we'll start back up at 10:45.  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 10:21 a.m.

--- On resuming at 10:49 a.m.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  I'll just mention before we get started, Mr. Janigan, that the Board has reached a decision and made its determination on the motion from the City of Hamilton, and we'll deliver that from the dais here immediately after lunch just so people are aware.  Okay.


With that, I don't know if there's anything else, Ms. Lea.
Preliminary Matters:


MS. LEA:  Yeah, I had a preliminary matter that my friends agreed to indulge me with.  There's just some confusion in my mind at least about some of the rate classes, where their definitions are, and what some of the acronyms mean, and I wonder if you could give us a primer on that, please.


MR. ROGERS:  Would it help if we turned up the exhibit that had --


MS. LEA:  Yes, that's what we want to know.  Where is the exhibit, where do we find it, the description of the rate classes, and if you would choose to do so, a brief description of what's changing in this application from previous.  So I guess a primer, please.


MR. ANDRE:  Certainly.  I'm looking for the best place where they might be described.  And I'm --


MS. LEA:  I was looking at your rate schedules themselves --


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, but --


MS. LEA:  -- which are G2.


MR. ANDRE:  Yeah.


MS. LEA:  G2, tab 2, and G2, tab 3, schedule 1.  I looked at those.  I don't know whether the acronyms are therein described.


MR. ANDRE:  Okay.  So why don't we go through that, because I think they are.  So if we go to the proposed rate schedules, and why don't we start on page 3.


MS. LEA:  Of what exhibit?


MR. ANDRE:  Of the proposed rate schedule, so that's exhibit -- it's on the screen here, Exhibit G2, tab 2, schedule 1.


MS. LEA:  Right.


MR. ANDRE:  So scroll back up.  So the -- Hydro One has four residential rate classes.  So you see there year-round urban density, that's what sometimes will be referred to as the UR rate class.  We have a year-round medium density residential rate class, which is sometimes referred to as R1.


MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me, I wonder if you could just -- could explain just what the difference is between them.  I mean, why is UR -- it's a year-round urban density, but what exactly does that mean?  Just give us some definition about how these are differentiated --


MR. ANDRE:  Sure.


MR. ROGERS:  -- in general terms.


MR. ANDRE:  Yeah.  And the definitions are in the rate classification exhibit, but -- so urban density are groups of customers that are located in an area where there's more than 3,000 customers in a cluster of customers and the density of customers per kilometre of line within that cluster is greater than 60.  So greater -- more than 3,000 customers with a line density of more than 60 customers per kilometre of line.  That defines the UR year-round residential class.


The year-round medium density class, sometimes referred to as R1, are areas where you have a cluster of more than 100 customers and with a line density of more than 15 customers per kilometre of line.


So both of those -- in both cases, both criteria have to be met, so more 100 customers in a cluster and more than 15 customers per kilometre of line.


MR. ROGERS:  So could I just ask you, for me at least, could you give us just an example of, who would these people be?  I mean, is there a town or something that would -- give us just an explanation of what kind of person --


MR. ANDRE:  So the UR -- the UR would be your large community, so, you know, your Owen Sounds, your Perths, your larger Kingston would be your larger communities, would be your UR rate class, and then medium density, I mean, they're small -- I mean, typically that's what we're looking for, is small towns, and if that town has more than 100 customers within it -- so that really ranges, because you can have small towns that literally have just 100 customers, all the way up to 3,000 customers.  That whole range is defined as medium density.  And there are small towns all over Ontario that fall within that R1 rate class.


And then anyone that's not in a UR urban residential area or an R1 medium-density residential area then becomes our year-round low-density R2 rate class, so that becomes all the residential customers that aren't in the large urban centre UR or a small-town R1.


MR. ROGERS:  Would these be farms and things like that?


MR. ANDRE:  Yeah, so everybody in the rural -- in the rural area, along the roads and spread out throughout the countryside.


MS. LEA:  And it is this class that at present receives the RRRP assistance; is that correct?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, that's correct.


MS. LEA:  And none of the other classes?


MR. ANDRE:  No.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


MR. ANDRE:  Their assistance -- currently $28.50 per month is credited to their bill.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


MR. ANDRE:  And then we have the seasonal residential class, which I think is fairly explanatory.  So those are the four residential classes, and then we move on to our general-service rate classes, and again, within general service there is a density-based distinction, so within general service we have urban general service, energy build, and we've used the acronym UGE.  You know, it's the rate class that Mr. DeRose was asking about me about.  So UGE stands for urban general service energy.  So those would be general service, small commercial customers, you know, small office buildings, small shops, that -- whose demand is less than 50 kilowatts in a month.  So if they have low demand below 50 then they're considered general service energy.  If their demand is above 50 kilowatts they're considered general service demand.


So all utilities have those two distinctions, general service energy and then general service demand, which would be the small industries, larger office buildings, that sort of thing.


And for Hydro One, in addition to the distinction between general service energy and general service demand, we also have a density-based component, so you'll see the UGE are those general service energy customers that are located in those urban areas, so if you're a general-service customer in that Owen Sound or that Perth area, then you would get the urban general service energy rate.  If you're outside an urban area then you're just a regular general service, so for general service we don't have an R1, like a medium density, just because the number of customers that are in that class would be too small to -- it's impractical to have rate classes with that number.  So for general service we just have an urban rate and then a standard general service energy billed, commonly referred to as GSE.


And then we again have the same on the general service demand, which is if customers whose demand is above 50 kilowatts, you have an urban general service demand billed, which is UGD, and then a regular general service demand billed, GSD.


And to your question, Ms. Lea, everything I mentioned so far, there's no changes.  These class have existed up til this point.  I will highlight when one we get to one that's new.


The DGEN, distributed generation rate class, which is sometimes referred to as DGEN, that's for distributed generation customers when they are taking load, so this is not a charge that applies to their delivery of electricity into the system.  It's a charge that applies when they take load from the distribution system.


Moving on, next rate classes are subtransmission rate class, sometimes referred to -- or not sometimes, commonly referred to as our ST, subtransmission rate class, and this applies, you can see in the definition there, it applies it to -- typically it's customers connected to our subtransmission system, meaning they're connected to distribution lines whose voltages are between 44 KB and 13.8 KB.  So they're using those higher-voltage distribution lines, not making use of any of the primary lower-voltage distribution lines, which is why they have a rate class.


MR. ROGERS:  What would they be?  What kind of customers would these be?


MR. ANDRE:  So this would be our very large industrial, so I know Honda, you know, I think would be one of the customers; Kraft Foods, some of the bigger industrials, if they're not connected to transmission.  A lot of these are big enough to be connected to transmission.  But if transmission is not readily available, they're far from a transmission line, then they will connect to the distribution system at the highest voltages available.


There's also other requirements around having to own your own transformation and being connected at three phase.  Those are -- the three requirements are there.


This is also the rate-class panel that applies to all embedded LDCs, so all embedded LDCs within Hydro One's distribution system paid these subtransmission rates for, you know, delivery across our distribution to their system.  And then they, I believe, recover that through what they call LV charges, low voltage charges, on their rate schedules.  They would recover the cost of -- Hydro One's cost to them of transmission would be recovered by them from their customers.


Then we get to one rate class that is new in our proposed rate schedules, which is the unmetered scattered load service classification.  Unmetered scattered load, you'll sometimes hear it being referred to as USL, unmetered scattered load.  And these customers were previously serviced under a general service energy unmetered rate class.  That was the rate class we had previously, but per the Board direction in their last cost allocation review report, they directed all utilities to develop an unmetered scattered load rate class, unless there were good reasons not to.


So Hydro One has elected to develop a separate rate class and allocate costs to these customers separately.


MR. ROGERS:  Who are they?


MR. ANDRE:  Unmetered scattered load would be billboards.  So they're not metered, billboards scattered throughout -- telephone booths.  So any facility that requires electricity, but they require it at such small amounts that it doesn't merit being metered.


And then we have the sentinel light service classification, which is lights, typical on customer properties like farms, et cetera, that it will have a light out in the yard to light their property at night.  So it's like the lighting, but it's specific to individual customers who have lights on their property that go on at night when the sun goes down.


And then we have street lighting service classification.  Again, the definition is there, but that's a standard rate class that all utilities have.


Many utilities also have the sentinel lighting service class classification.


MR. ROGERS:  Street lighting, this would be municipalities like Hamilton, I guess?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes.  This would be municipalities like Hamilton.  Both their street lights and the lighting associated with their traffic intersections, those are also included in our street light class.  So traffic lights, you know, the stop and go lights would also be part of the street light class.


MR. ROGERS:  Would the Ministry of Transport, for example, be --


MR. ANDRE:  Yes.  I believe they are customers of this rate class as well.


MR. ROGERS:  Is that it?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes.  And then there is a rate schedule associated with the microFIT generator service classification, but that's the same rate schedule that appears for all utilities, which is the nominal monthly charge applicable to microFIT generators connected to our system.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Just for completion, because it's a nice little package we've just put together on the transcript here, you did say that seasonal was self-explanatory, but perhaps you could explain as to what triggers a...


MR. ANDRE:  Yes.  For the record I think  that might be helpful.


So seasonal customers -- and if you go back to the rate schedule, page 2 of that rate schedule, if you could turn to that.


I should have started here, because, Mr. Quesnelle, below "Application" there's the definitions that I spoke to in terms of what qualifies as an urban area, the 3,000 and the 60 customers per kilometre of line, and there's the definition around medium density and then low density.  So that's there.


And then up above is the description of what Hydro One classifies as a year-round residential customer.  So any properties that don't meet this year-round definition requirements would be classified as seasonal.  So you can see there:

"Occupant represents and warrants to Hydro One that for so long as he/she has year-round residential rate status for the identified dwelling, they will not designate another property as year-round residence for the purposes of Hydro One rate classification."


They can only have one.


And then there's other requirements about occupancy: four days a week, eight months of the year, that address appearing on their driver's licence, credit card invoices, et cetera.  We give customers various ways to confirm that that address is their permanent residence.


MS. LEA:  Mr. Andre, as I noted, the change to this residential service classification from the previous rate schedules -- which I understand is an issue in this case -- is the sentence that appears below the numbers; is that right?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  The additional criterion for year-round residency.  Can you just explain that, please?


MR. ANDRE:  Certainly.  So that is the sentence that puts into effect in our rate schedules what we are proposing in our prefiled evidence.  And that is if you don't meet the requirements above in terms of a year-round residence –- you know, four days a week, eight months a year -- or don't have an address that shows that, if a customer does not meet all of those criteria above but consumes at least 9,600 kilowatt-hours annually and at least 600 kilowatt-hours monthly for a minimum of ten months of the year, they also require for a year-round residential customer classification.


So this sentence puts into effect what we're proposing and the evidence that we've provided in the rest of our submission.


MR. ROGERS:  Can I interrupt, just so I can follow this?  Are customers typically better off being transferred or being left where they are?  On this seasonal customer issue?


MR. ANDRE:  It depends on what type of seasonal customer you have.  So the issue with seasonal customers is you have very low-consuming seasonal customers who represent the bulk of our customers.  I believe the figure was -- when I worked it out from some of the data that's in our interrogatories, about 75 percent of seasonal customers consume below 500 kilowatt-hours.  In fact, there's something like 40,000 seasonal customers who consume less than 100 kilowatt-hours on average.


So of our roughly 150,000, 40,000 of them consume a very small amount, on average across all the months.  So they're probably there for three or four months at a fairly high consumption, but when you average that over the year, it works out to less than 100.


But then you also have those seasonal customers, Mr. Rogers, that consume a lot more.


MR. ROGERS:  The first category, I assume, would be cottagers, people who are at the cottage for a couple months in the summer and never again all year?


MR. ANDRE:  Right.


MR. ROGERS:  And the new group, just explain that to me.  Who are these people that you're moving over into the general service class?


MR. ANDRE:  If they're consuming 600 -- perhaps, Mr. But, you can comment on that.  Their consumption, certainly at 600 kilowatt-hours monthly, they're there for a large part of the year.  From that consumption level, at least ten months of the year they're there using fairly high consumption levels.


MR. ROGERS:  I said general service; I meant residential class.


MR. ANDRE:  Right.


MR. ROGERS:  If I may just do this to help my understanding of this -- Mr. But, you can help me if I'm wrong, but these, then, would be people who previously were seasonal customers, cottage owners maybe, many of them, who live there most of the year now under the new -- retired people or people who live outside of town at their cottage, but still live there most of the year?  That kind of --


MR. ANDRE:  Could be.  You would hope that if they live there, certainly they wouldn't have to meet this requirement.  If they've given up their residence, their primary residence in the town, and then are living up there, they should be able to qualify for seasonal based on the residential.


But if for whatever reason they still show a primary residence somewhere else, they could very well be living up there and maybe letting their children or whoever use their other property.


MR. ROGERS:  I didn't understand this before, but typically these people have another address; they must have another address by definition, but they spend a great deal of their time obviously, ten months a year or so, at this other --


MR. ANDRE:  At this other place where they're using at least 600 kilowatt-hours a month, yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.


MS. LEA:  Mr. Andre, I'm sorry to be pedantic.  I think perhaps you used a wrong word in there.  You said they would qualify for seasonal.  Are you indicating that if you fulfill these two criteria here in this sentence that you qualify for a residential --


MR. ANDRE:  Year-round, sorry.  If they meet the criteria of this sentence, then they qualify for the year-round residential customer classification, as it says in this sentence.


MS. LEA:  And which class do they go to?


MR. ANDRE:  If they were a seasonal in a town, in a town setting, then they would go to the R1 rate class.  If they were a seasonal customer located in a more rural setting, then they would go to the R2, low-density residential class.


So the class they migrate into is a function of where they are located.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  In terms of basic information -- I may well have more questions about this as we go on, but in terms of basic information, are there any other major changes other than what you're proposing for the seasonal customers in this filing?


MR. ANDRE:  In this one.  Yes, there are a couple of others that I think merit highlighting.  The rate-class review, so in our filing we have reflected the -- we've reflected our commitment to review the density base rate classes, so those UR, urban density, medium density, low density, across our entire service territory.  So we've reviewed that territory, used a new geographic information system tool, commonly referred to as a GIS tool, that lets us -- what's unique about this tool is it lets us map the location visually, see the location of customers, and have information on the distribution lines that are servicing those customers.


So we're able to do that analysis of, is there a cluster here that meets 100 or a cluster that meets 3,000.  And when you look at the kilometres of line that are serving that cluster, does it meet the 60 customers per kilometre for UR or the 15 customers per kilometre of line for the medium density.


So this GIS tool has allowed us, Ms. Lea, to go across our entire service territory and confirm the appropriate rate class that customers should be located in, and from our -- in our evidence we provide the results of that review, if you turn to Exhibit G1, tab 2, schedule 1.  And if you go to page 3 of that exhibit, this table summarized the results of that rate-class review.


And you can see that 89 percent of our customers, over a million customers, require no change to their rate class, but there are about 135,000 customers that will be changing rate classes.  The vast majority of those, 112,000, are customers that will be moving to a higher density rate class, like R1 to UR is the biggest -- second-biggest group.  There's about 40,000 of those.  And then there is customers in our rural communities that -- whose towns have grown sufficiently or been absorbed by expanding urban areas such that there's 63,000, about 64,000, that will be moving from the R2 to R1 class.


So that gives you the details of the customers that are moving to higher density, lower rate classes, and then there are about 22,500 that are moving the other way.  They're moving from rate classes to -- that are -- that are moving to a lower density rate class that will experience higher rates.


So the rate -- this rate-class review and the impacts on our customer classification would be a second significant item that I would highlight --


MR. ROGERS:  If I can just ask you -- perhaps I should have done this in-chief, but when you're going through this, if you could just slow down a little bit and tell us the reference in the evidence.  I know this is all described in the evidence.  Each of these changes, I think there's a separate section to describe what you've done in the evidence.  Or not?


MR. ANDRE:  No, this Exhibit G1, tab 2, schedule 1 --


MR. ROGERS:  Has all this --


MR. ANDRE:  -- describes what's happening.  This is reflected throughout the evidence.  For example, in the bill impact section you will see information on the bill impacts associated with customers --


MR. ROGERS:  No, no, I just was getting to the point, the changes that you're making through the density study and so on, there's a number of things you're doing in this application, and I thought my friend Ms. Lea was just trying to get you to explain briefly what those are for us.


MR. ANDRE:  Right.  Right.  So rate class review would be one of the things that I would highlight as being a significant aspect of our application.  The second item or the third item, because -- seasonal rate class review.


MS. LEA:  If I can just interrupt you, the seasonal movement is not displayed on this chart.  Is that because it's not a result of the rate-class review?


MR. ANDRE:  Correct.  That's right.  The rate class -- remember, seasonal don't have high density or low density.  They are seasonal as a class, include customers in all of those -- in all of those areas.  So they're not density-differentiated, so they are not part of this table, correct.


The third item that I would highlight, Panel, is fixed charges.  So in Exhibit G1, tab 4, schedule 1, and section 3 of that exhibit, which is on page 4, describes our proposals on fixed versus volumetric charges.  And the core of our proposal is we are making an adjustment to bring the fixed charges, make them consistent with the values that fall out of the Board's -- or the Board's cost allocation methodology.  It's Hydro One's cost allocation model, but it follows the Board methodology, and the minimum system charges that fall out of that is what we're proposing to move to in most cases.


This is -- I would highlight also that for fixed charges, since about 2008 Hydro One's fixed charges have stayed relatively flat as a result of the harmonization.  We went to a period of four years where we harmonized our rate classes of the acquired utilities that were acquired in early 2000, and as a result of that process fixed charges -- our existing fixed charges are quite low, as they remained relatively flat.  Any increases in revenue requirement were being absorbed by the volumetric charges throughout that period.


So I think that's part of the reason that you're seeing a jump in the fixed charges, is because they've been held flat for a while, but as I said, the core of our proposal is to align with the Board's cost allocation methodology in terms of fixed charges.


And then -- any questions on that, Ms. Lea?


MS. LEA:  No, thank you.


MR. ANDRE:  And then the fourth and final area that I would highlight is Hydro One's proposal around tightening the revenue to cost ratios.  So in 2015, as I took you to the evidence before, you saw that Hydro One's proposal is to ensure that all rate classes are within the Board-approved range.


So I took you to the exhibit -- rate design exhibit at Exhibit G1, tab 4, schedule 2, attachment 1.  Right there.  So in Hydro One's case, when we ran the new cost allocation model, which we hadn't run -- the last cost allocation model before this was 2010, so running the new model, you can see in column F that there were a number of classes that were outside the Board ranges, so in 2015 we've made adjustments.  You can see the 1.29 and the 1.23.  We've brought those to 1.15, which is the Board range for residential rate classes, and as a result of that there is some revenue-shifting that happens between rate classes.


That's in '15, and then our proposal for the years '16 to '19, as we've detailed in our evidence in G1, tab 3, schedule 1 on page 15, implementation of cost allocation results, this describes -- you can see that in the paragraph starting at line 18, that over the period 2016 to 2019 Hydro One proposes to tighten the revenue to cost ratios closer to 1.  We're going to -- we're hoping to move -- or we've proposed a movement to all rate classes within a revenue to cost ratio band of 98 percent to 102 percent.


So those are the four items that I would highlight as fairly significant from a cost allocation and rate design perspective.


MS. LEA:  Mr. Andre, I will have some cross-examination for this panel at the end, I believe, of those -- that of my friends, but there was one clarification I thought might be useful to get now, and that goes back to your Exhibit G1, tab 4, schedule 2, which showed the shift in the revenue to cost ratios.  And we notice that the -- for the urban general energy class there appeared to be a change from 1.2 in 2013 to 0.71 in 2015.  And we just wondered -- and then I see you have a target ratio.  That appears to be a big change to us.  Was there any particular reason for that?  And just a bit of an explanation on that, please.


MR. ANDRE:  Certainly.  So the 2013 ratio is not actually based on a cost allocation model run.


As I indicated, the last cost allocation model that we actually had was from our 2010 cost of service application.  What we did in 2013 is we made a bottom-line adjustment to the revenue to cost ratios of all our rate classes to reflect the density study.


So one of the concerns the Board had was that the shifting of costs that we do between our urban density, our medium density and our low density, how we used the cost allocation model to shift costs between those rate classes.  The Board wanted some assurance that that was being done in a proper manner.  So as part of our 2013 IRM application, we filed a study that demonstrated -- or not demonstrated, but it proposed updated factors to accurately reflect the relative cost of serving those high-density, medium-density and low-density areas.


So we implemented those in 2013, but because it was an IRM year and we don't run the cost allocation model under IRM, we made adjustment to the revenue to cost ratios on a bottom-line basis as part of this application.  And as agreed to with intervenors during the settlement of our 2013 IRM, we've now brought that bottom-line adjustment to reflect the density study results into the model.  So now we have density factors that are applied on a US of A basis, on a line-by-line basis, to reflect that density study.


And it's -- you know, in some cases the bottom-line adjustment was -- didn't accurately reflect what would happen to the allocation of costs for a given rate class once you brought it in the model.  And I think that's what you're seeing there for the UGE class.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Thank you.


So those are my basic questions.  I may have other cross-examination later.

MS. HARE:  I would like to ask you a quick question.  It has to do with the fixed versus volumetric charges.


You indicated you're making the change to ensure consistency with the cost allocation methodology.  I just wanted to make sure you're talking about the existing cost allocation methodology, and nothing to do with the proposal that's in draft on the decoupling issue; correct?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, that's correct.  That's the results from the existing cost allocation model, not the 100 percent fixed rate design.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.


MR. ANDRE:  I would add that our proposals aren't directionally consistent with the Board's decoupling proposal, because they do for most cases increase the fixed charges, but they're not based on...


MS. HARE:  Right.  So if there was no decoupling on the table for discussion, you still would go forward with this, is what you're saying?


MR. ANDRE:  Absolutely, yes.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


Thanks for asking that, Ms. Lea.  That was very helpful.  Thank you.


Mr. Janigan?  And the clock starts now, not 45 minutes ago, just in case you were wondering.


[Laughter]

Cross-Examination by Mr. Janigan:

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much.


I wonder if I could have this binder, the VECC cross-examination compendium, marked as an exhibit.


MS. LEA:  K6.1.

EXHIBIT NO. K6.1:  VECC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM FOR PANEL 4.


MR. JANIGAN:  First matter, just a clean-up of some issues that you were discussing with my friend Mr. DeRose.


I understand from your undertaking that you have prepared a table that shows distribution on rate impacts by -- or bill impacts by rate class, and have removed the smoothing effect from it, so that, effectively, table 1, G1, tab 7, schedule 1, page 2 has been redone by you without the smoothing effect; is that correct?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes.  And I think it is exactly table -- let me just confirm.  Table 2, G1 -- sorry, yeah.  Yeah.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, does that still contain the impact of rate riders?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, the other rate riders.  Not the smoothing rate rider, but the other rate riders.


MR. JANIGAN:  Is it possible that you could prepare a table expunging the other rate riders?


MR. ANDRE:  And would you say the rate riders in '14 would also be expunged?  Because the bill impacts compares '14 to '15.


MR. JANIGAN:  It would simply be from -- on a going-forward basis.


MR. ANDRE:  So include the riders in '14 but don't include any riders in '15?


MR. JANIGAN:  That's correct.  That would seem to make the most sense.


MR. ANDRE:  Like I said, the impact of riders, certainly that 6.3 percent figure that we've talked about before reflects the impact of everything that a customer is paying in '14 for distribution, to everything that they are paying in '15 for distribution.  I'm...


MR. JANIGAN:  What you're convincing me is that possibly to eliminate all the rate riders would be a more sensible solution.


MR. ANDRE:  It depends.  I'm not exactly sure how you would use this evidence, but it would seem to me that there would be a discontinuity if you took out the riders in one year but not the other years.


MR. JANIGAN:  That's fine.  That would meet our purpose.


MR. ROGERS:  Can I just ask, can this be done relatively easily?  Or is it a big task?


MR. ANDRE:  No, it will take -- we'll have to go back -- certainly the cost allocation doesn't have to be run, and so it will mean going back to the bill impact sheets and just stripping that out.


When you say "easily," certainly I think within the time frame of this panel being on here, meaning a couple of days, I'm pretty sure we can turn it around within a couple of days.


MR. ROGERS:  I'm always conscious of the probative value juxtaposed with the work and effort required to get it.  I'm not sure the value of this, but if the Board would like it, we'll undertake to do it.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Janigan?


MR. JANIGAN:  I think it's helpful to see the rate impacts isolated from the effects of smoothing and rate riders for the purpose of final argument.


MR. QUESNELLE:  It does provide another window, and one which has -- I don't want to call it the rate riders' noise, but it does give you a very clear picture.


MR. ROGERS:  Very well.


MS. LEA:  J6.2.  And just to be specific, for which years are the rate riders stripped out and which years are they left in?


MR. JANIGAN:  They're going to be stripped out for all.


MS. LEA:  Perfect.  Thank you.  J6.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. J6.2:  TO PREPARE A TABLE SHOWING RATE IMPACTS ISOLATED FROM THE EFFECTS OF SMOOTHING AND RATE RIDERS.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.


Panel, I would like to turn first to historical CDM values.  And I would like you to, if possible, turn up in my compendium tab 1.  That's A, T16, S3, page 4, table 1.


And can you confirm that, in identifying the historical total CDM savings, you have considered five sources for such savings, as set out in the table?


MR. BUT:  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  And all five sources made a significant contribution to the total?  In other words, each was more than 10 percent in 2013?


MR. BUT:  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  I wonder if you can turn up VECC 15, which is set out at tab 2 of the compendium.


And the preamble contains an extract from the OPA's Long-Term Energy Plan of 2013, module 2.  I've also included that as tab 3 as well, of this compendium.


And if you -- if you notice in the OPA material that there are categories that OPA uses in determining historical CDM, and here there are four.  And the first category, demand response and pre-2008 customer-base generation, would you agree with me that this first one makes only a very small contribution to the historical CDM?

MR. BUT:  Yes, the contribution is -- as you can see from the table is a very, very small contribution, but most important in all, this item doesn't have much or, if any, invitation on energy.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Would you agree that the -- it's the last three categories -- other influenced energy efficiency programs and codes and standards -- that clearly have the most influence?


MR. BUT:  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.


MR. BUT:  Based on this table.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, at VECC 15, which was tab 2, VECC asked for a reconciliation of the OPA and Hydro One CDM categories, and you provided a table doing so.


MR. BUT:  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  And in the table provided there is no comparable OPA category for your increased conservation-effect category.  Would you agree?


MR. BUT:  In this table there is no information provided by OPA regarding increased conservation effect.  But as we have done in detail studies as we documented and provided in Exhibit A16-3, we have done a number of studies to demonstrate for Hydro One Distributions indeed we saw increased conservation effects.


MR. JANIGAN:  We'll get to that.


Is there any reason for the difference in the way Hydro One and OPA sets out this information, and have you had any discussions with the OPA with a view to reconciling this difference and how historical CDM is identified?


MR. BUT:  When we had meeting with the OPA we understand that they do not have specific analysis with respect to increased conservation effects, but they don't have any objection for Hydro One to do much more detailed study at the distribution company level to identify savings relating to increased conservation effects, and that is exactly what we have done in Exhibit A16-3.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And if we can go back to that exhibit, as I understand -- and that was located at tab 1.  As I understand it, the values for the first four categories are independently calculated by Hydro One, and you've set out in VECC IRs from 16 to 20 inclusive how the individual category calculations were done.


MR. BUT:  That is correct.  In those IR study you just referenced, we provided detail regarding those three items.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, in response to VECC 21, which is set out in -- at tab 4 of my compendium, you indicated that the annual values for the increased conservation effect were not independently calculated, but determined as the residual between the total and the values for the other four categories; is that correct?


MR. BUT:  That is what we explain in this IR.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, in reviewing the application and the IR responses, we were unable to locate any explanation of how the total values were determined for each year in order to calculate this residual.  Can you point us to where in the evidence this is outlined or briefly explain what was done?


MR. BUT:  I can certainly do that.


Can you give me a reference year to start talking about this, Mr. Janigan?


MR. JANIGAN:  The VECC 21, which is where you indicated that --


MR. BUT:  I --


MR. JANIGAN:  -- how the increased conservation --


MR. BUT:  Mr. Janigan, what I'm asking is what year in particular you want a reference point?


MR. JANIGAN:  Well, I would particularly like to have it refer to the material that you set out in table 1.  Is this something that we might be better -- you might be better able to do in an undertaking?


MR. BUT:  Because we are dealing with a lot of numbers, it may be more convenient to do so.  However, I can briefly, for example, say that because we are now talking about for year 2005 to 2013, but I can quickly mention to you that, for example, for the year 2010 and '11, that reference point was based on the load forecast that we provided in our last rate applications.  And for the 2012 and '13, those were the forecasts that we provided to the company for business planning purposes.  And in terms of load forecasting accuracy pertaining to those years, including prior years in 2005, 6, 7, and 8 -- by the way, for years 2006, 7, and 8, those were years that were covered by the periods -- cost-of-service rate cases as well.  So basically the reference point would be, to the extent that we have in general -- to the extent that we have cost-of-service rate cases, the load forecast reference point would be exactly as we requested in terms of the rate applications, and in other years that we do not have cost-of-service applications covering those years, such as 2012 and '13, most recently, we are using our business plan load forecast that we conduct on an annual basis as the reference point.


MR. JANIGAN:  Yeah?  So the load forecast -- from that load forecast you deduct the calculations from the individual -- from the first four categories, and then the residual is what you term the increased conservation effect; is that correct?  Have I got that right?


MR. BUT:  Mr. Janigan, can you repeat that?


MR. JANIGAN:  The way you used the load forecast is you take the -- use the load forecast to represent the total conservation effect, and you deduct the other four categories from that total to arrive at the figure for increased conservation effect.


MR. BUT:  I should add that it is the -- it's not just the load forecast in particular.  We are talking about the CDM impacts assumed in the load forecast.  And then we peel off how much of that is attributed to non-target program from 2005 to 2010, and how much of that is attributed to what we call target CDM results relating to in this case, in this table, 2011, 2012, and there are other estimate pertaining to other organization and codes and standard, so we did the analysis for each of the category and then compared to the total CDM forecast that we already assume in the load forecast, the CDM total assuming the load forecast, then based on the load forecast accuracy comparison we did, we believe that our load forecast has been accurate; therefore, from a load forecasting point of view, we need to find the reason for any difference.  And this difference is -- we attributed that to increased conservation effects.  And we're not just saying that this is increased conservation effects; we have done studies for the past many years.  We have done analysis, including surveys, including building analysis, including econometric analysis.  Basically we try our best in order to demonstrate in addition to the saving under non-target programs, in addition to saving target programs, other influence and cogent standards, there are additional savings that we attribute to customers' own actions.  And these are the savings, these are the actions that are not easily tracked.  And for this, we explain in detail in our Exhibit A16-3.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  If I could go back to the way you calculate the total, you mention that there were some adjustments made to the forecast that you make before you deduct from the four categories.


Is it possible, perhaps –- and rather than go through that again, can you just undertake --


MR. BUT:  Mr. Janigan, can I clarify what adjustment you were referring to?


MR. JANIGAN:  I think you mentioned when you started -- and I may have this wrong -- that you took the forecast that was either provided in the cost of service application or the business plan.  Then you made some adjustments based on other estimates, as I thought, before you used that particular figure to -- and deducted the savings from the four categories?


MR. BUT:  I...


MR. JANIGAN:  Am I correct on that?


MR. BUT:  I do not recollect I mentioned that I make adjustment to the load forecast.  All I said earlier was -- maybe I will repeat that -– this --


MR. ROGERS:  I don't want you to repeat everything, Mr. But.  If you could sort of rephrase it slowly and in a concise form, that might help.


MR. BUT:  Sure.  The starting point for this analysis is essentially with respect to this table 1.  The starting point is essentially the CDM impact that we assume in each of the years 2005 to 2015.


For the years that we have cost of service applications, we have a number of them, and the CDM numbers that we use are exactly the same as we use in those previous applications.


MR. JANIGAN:  Can I stop and ask you a question?  If I took, let's say, for 2012, and you took your forecast, and I deducted for each of the four categories that you calculate independently, I would get the number for the increased conservation effect?


MR. BUT:  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.


MR. BUT:  That is the reason why the increased conservation effect is characterized as the residual.


I may as well mention that we, in our analysis with respect to increased conservation effects, we have done a number of studies that shows that there's a lot of effects, but for the purpose of categorizing it and in -- as savings, we only considered the residual.  That means we're not claiming anything more than what we assume in the load forecast in terms of the total CDM impacts.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I wonder if I can now turn to Hydro One's CDM forecast, and if you could turn up tab 6.


MR. BUT:  I have tab 6.


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  And tab 5.


MR. BUT:  I have tab 5.


MR. JANIGAN:  And in particular looking at tab 5, in this table ES1, you've set out a forecast for CDM between 2014 and 2019, broken down into four categories again; is that correct?


MR. BUT:  Four categories in terms of related to program and codes incentive, Mr. Janigan?


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, codes and standards, historical program, target program persistence, and forecast savings from future programs.


MR. BUT:  Right, but there are more than four categories in this --


MR. JANIGAN:  I'm sorry, did I make a mistake there?


MR. BUT:  There are also time of use and demand response programs.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  In this particular category, it seems that you've set out your forecast broken down into just four categories, though; isn't that correct?


MR. BUT:  In tab 5, yes, that's correct.  I was looking at your tab 6.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And I believe, according to your evidence, that in tab 6, at A, tab 16, schedule 4, that these categories are -- can be related to those used by OPA in the 2013 Long-Term Energy Plan?


MR. BUT:  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  And if we look at tab 7, which contains the OPA's 2013 Long-Term Energy Plan, which is set out as a preamble to VECC -- VECC 87, it's fair to say that OPA's first category, forecast savings from future programs, would capture your category of forecast savings from future programs plus the savings from target programs in 2013 and 2014?


MR. BUT:  That's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  In staying with this chart that's in VECC 87, if we look at OPA's future program row, the value for 2020 is 10.4 gigawatts and the impact of programs up to the end of 2014 is 2.5 gigawatts.  So the impact of all programs from 2015 to 2020 is somewhere between 7.9 and 10.4 gigawatts, depending on the persistence of the 2013-2014 programs; would you agree with that?


MR. BUT:  Assuming you have the right numbers, yes, I agree.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And based on your response to VECC 87(e), which is at tab 7, to determine how much of this is to come from LDC customers, one would first to have to subtract the contribution by transmission-connected customers, then convert the residual to end-use values by removing losses; would that be correct?


MR. BUT:  That's correct.  You are referring to the table in row 2.  We are taking out the saving relating to the transmission directly connected customers.  And in row 3 we are taking the losses in consideration, which is 6.5 percent, and that is how we arrive for 2015 in energy in gigawatt-hours.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  If we look at the savings attributed to transmission-connected customers, it's 1,565 gigawatts in 2019.


And based on year-over-year growth, it's likely to be in the order of 1,700 in 2020; is that reasonable?


MR. BUT:  Mr. Janigan, can you repeat your reference please?


MR. JANIGAN:  Sure.  If we look at the -- I'm sorry, I should have directed you to the next page, Exhibit TCK2.6 of schedule 7.  And the savings attributed to transmission-connected customers is 1,565 gigawatts in 2019.


And based on its year-over-year growth, it's likely to be in the order of 1,700 in 2020?


MR. BUT:  That is the -- that is the assumption that we make in these calculations.


MR. JANIGAN:  Even if we assume no persistence of the 2013 and 2014 programs, the 10.4 would become -- 8.7 gigawatts of transmission is removed, and would become roughly 8.2 gigawatts after losses were removed?


MR. BUT:  Mr. Janigan, can you repeat your calculation again?


MR. JANIGAN:  Sure.  Even if we assumed that no persistence of the 2013 and 2014 programs occurred, that the 10.4 would become 8.7 gigawatts if transmission is removed and would become roughly 8.2 gigawatts after losses were removed...


MR. BUT:  Because I don't -- Mr. Janigan, I don't see that calculation in the table that we provided in Exhibit TCK2.6, so I could not confirm your calculations.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I'll try to return to that after the break, possibly.


If -- as I understand it, the OPA has recently released a draft CDM targets for each LDC for the period of 2015 to 2019 which total 7 gigawatts; is that correct?


MR. BUT:  Based on the current information released by the OPA, indeed, for the next CDM target the total savings OPA is expecting to get from contribution from LD or LDCs is 7 kilowatt-hours for the period 2015 to '20.


MR. JANIGAN:  It appears to me if there is some persistence from 2013 to 2014 programs, this 7 gigawatts will address the future programs' post-2014 savings required by LDCs to meet the OPA's projection.  Is that your understanding?


MR. BUT:  That 7 gigawatt-hours is for future program savings, and it is different from the persisting saving from programs achieved prior to 2015.


MR. JANIGAN:  Yeah?  So you're disagreeing that if there is some persistence that will address future programs required by LDCs?


MR. BUT:  I believe these are two different concepts.  One concept you mentioned, Mr. Janigan, relates to the persistence of program savings prior to 2015, but the 7 gigawatt-hours we are talking about is future program savings expected from delivered by all LDCs for 2015 to '20.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  What is the -- Hydro One's share of that target?


MR. BUT:  As we provided in one of the -- our response, the -- for the 2000 and -- in VECC 87, for example, page 5, I believe we indicated that for the period 2015 and onwards we are using 18 percent of the total share of all the LDC that we expect to deliver.


MR. JANIGAN:  What does that work out to, in terms of amount of savings per year?


MR. BUT:  I believe we have that information that you already provided in tab 5, in your tab 5, that table ES1.


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.


MR. BUT:  And if you look at tab 5, table ES1, which is the same as the information we provided in Exhibit A16-4, that is basically the forecast saving for future programs.  If you read that 2015, we are talking about 514, 2016, 582, 2017, 588, '18 and '19 are 784, 1,073 gigawatt-hours respectively.


MR. JANIGAN:  If the Hydro One share might be approximately 1,200 gigawatts, aren't the calculations that you have set out, the forecasting savings in the 2015 and 2016, for example, extremely robust?


MR. BUT:  The number, Mr. Janigan, that you quoted as 1,200 --


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.


MR. BUT:  -- I believe is the number you provided in your tab 8.


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.


MR. BUT:  And that represent -- if you look at tab 8, Mr. Janigan --


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.


MR. BUT:  -- if you look at the table, and the heading of that table is "draft CDM LDC CDM target and budget allocations".


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.


MR. BUT:  And if you look down to Hydro One Networks, that is I guess where you quoted the 1,200 gigawatt-hours.


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.


MR. BUT:  And I can tell you right now that that 1,200 gigawatt-hours for the year 2020 represent 17 -- approximately 17.12 percent for the total.  In our case, as I just mentioned to you, Hydro One assume 18 percent, but I want to make you aware that this is still a draft CDM target numbers, and I actually check with our CDM team, and they are member of the CDM target allocation working group, and at this point in time the numbers have not been finalized.


MR. JANIGAN:  I guess what I'm getting at is certainly where you end up is reasonably close to the target.  It seems that in 2015 and 2016 the projected savings seem very robust, given --


MR. BUT:  The reason why, Mr. Janigan, you see the number being robust, because we use the annual profiles consistent with the table 10 that you provided in tab 7, and over there you have the annual CDM total numbers provided by the OPA consistent with the 2013 L tab.  And in our allocation methodology we just use 18 percent share for Hydro One Distribution in total.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, I wonder if you can turn up tab 9.  According to your application -- and I have here -- it's from Exhibit A, tab 16, schedule 2, page 21 -- the 2012 smart meter data was used to estimate the load shapes for the customer classes.


Would I be correct to say that this data was used for the UR, R1, R2, seasonal UGE, and GSE classes?


MR. BUT:  Mr. Janigan, we use the 2012 smart meter datas that we obtain from the ISO pertaining to close to 1.2 million customers, and we use that to generate analysis for all the rate classes, including those rate classes that you did not mention.


Of course, that analysis pertain to the residential and general-service class, but of course it does not include those streetlighting and meter scattered load that Mr. Andre mentioned earlier that we do not have smart meter, so that is how we use the smart meter to generate the load shape form.


MR. JANIGAN:  Would you agree with me that the load profiles for the classes that I mentioned are weather-sensitive?


MR. BUT:  Mr. Janigan, can you repeat those rate classes?


MR. JANIGAN:  That was the UR, R1, R2, seasonal --


MR. BUT:  Can you slow down?  UR.


MR. JANIGAN:  R1.


MR. BUT:  R1.



MR. JANIGAN:  R2.


MR. BUT:  R2.


MR. JANIGAN:  Seasonal.


MR. BUT:  Seasonal.


MR. JANIGAN:  UGE.


MR. BUT:  UGE.


MR. JANIGAN:  And GSE.


MR. BUT:  And GSE.


MR. JANIGAN:  Classes.


MR. BUT:  Classes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  Are the load profiles for these classes weather-sensitive?


MR. BUT:  They are.  They are very sensitive.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, at tab 10, in another case before the Board, that of Horizon, EB-2014-0002, the applicant Horizon indicated that:

"A minimum of four years after smart meter data is deployed is necessary in order to determine weather sensitivity of load."


Do you agree with the suggestion that the quality of the load shapes for these classes will improve with more years of smart meter data?


MR. BUT:  Mr. Janigan, I believe I will give you a yes-and-no answer, and then let me try and explain in detail.


You mentioned that -- earlier that in your question whether using more than one year of data will improve the quality, and the -- my short answer is yes, it will of course improve the quality because we have more years of information.


But I will also add no, because if you try to say if you only use one year of data, 2012, in anticipation to your question, whether or not the quality will suffer, no, the quality using one year of smart meter data will not suffer.


Perhaps I can explain in a little bit more detail.


We are obtaining 1.2 -- more than 1.2 million customer data from IESO.  From each customer, we have hourly data.  That means each customer, we have 8.76, all data points.  In total, we are talking about 10 trillions of data.


In terms of doing load shape analysis -- I will try to be short.  I'm not trying to give you a lecture.  We are now grouping hundreds of thousands of customers.  For example, take seasonal customers Mr. Andre just talked about.  We have 150,000 customers -- or seasonal customers.  Some of them may not have smart meter, of course, but for UR, R1, R2, for each residential class we have 200,000, 300,000 of customers, of data points, and group that into one load shape.


From that point of view, I would say as a load research expert in this area, I believe the data quality is more than sufficient to produce quality load shapes.


MR. JANIGAN:  So you would disagree with Horizon, that believes that a minimum of four years appears to be necessary?


MR. BUT:  Mr. Janigan, I -- my panel buddy Mr. Andre just reminded me, when -- in tab 10 when Horizon mentioned they need to use four years of load shapes, smart meter data, I think they refer that to -- if you look at line 3, to do weather normalizations and then use 30 years of result data.


I think in this response provided by Horizon to A, they are talking about using four years of smart meter data to do weather normalizations.


MR. JANIGAN:  So you're comfortable with the one year that you have in relation to predicting load shape?


MR. BUT:  I'm comfortable in terms of using one year of smart meter data to do the load shape analysis.


With respect to whether I should use this opportunity to clarify that for Hydro One Distribution, as we documented and provided in the evidence in A16-2, in the section on weather normalization we actually used four years of latest load data, not smart meter data, as well as the weather data in order to do the weather normalization procedures.


But in order to do that procedure, we do not need to use smart meter data for each of the customers.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I would like to turn to another area, that of customer class reclassification.  And in particular, I wonder if you could turn up tab 11, which deals with rate impact mitigation.  And in particular with respect to page 5 of Exhibit G1, page 7, schedule 1 that is set out therein.


And here, you outline the criteria for customers to receive rate mitigation in 2015 as a result of being reclassified to a residential or GS classification, which has a higher rate.  For example, UR to R2.


And I note that -- and you can correct me if I'm wrong -- that this plan is to offer, only offer, the mitigation payments in 2015; is that correct?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, that's correct.  That's our proposal.


MR. JANIGAN:  Is this because you have determined that in 2016, no one who receives mitigation in 2015 would see increases in 2016 from their mitigated bills that meet the proposed criteria?


MR. ANDRE:  No.  The basis is that the rate impact that they will experience or -- is related to the movement in -- from one classification to another classification.  And that happens in just the one year.


So because that change in rate classification is just happening in 2015, we felt it appropriate to just make the mitigation effective for 2015.


MR. JANIGAN:  Even if they meet that same criteria in 2016?


MR. ANDRE:  I haven't checked if they would not -- I don't know if there would be any that wouldn't meet that criteria in 2015, but this mitigation is associated with mitigating the impacts of our rate class review.  And that is a one-time thing that happens in 2015, which is why we geared it to just occur in 2015.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, I wonder if you could turn up tab 12.  I'm moving on to the treatment of seasonal class.


And in G1, tab 2, schedule 1, Hydro One sets out its proposal for altering the definition and treatment of the seasonal class, at lines 25 to 27 of page 5 of that application.  And it states therein that:

"The purpose is to better align with cost causality and fairness rates principles.  However, this section of the application did not appear to set out precisely what the issues or problems were with the current practice as it applies to seasonal classification rates."


And in looking for an explanation, the best we found was at tab 13, Exhibit G1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 7.  And this included the feedback from your stakeholder session, which appeared to identify two issues.


The main one seemed to be the disparity of rates and bills as between permanent and seasonal residents:

"... in the same area, around the same lake, along the same road or on the same power lines."


To quote from the bottom of page 7.


And to a lesser extent, a second problem with the current rates was it appeared there was some cross-subsidization going on between low-volume and high-volume seasonal customers, as per the third paragraph on that page.


Am I correct that these were the two issues or areas where there was concern about fairness of the current treatment of seasonal customers?


MR. ANDRE:  Certainly those are two areas.  We talked about the issue, the seasonal customer issue, at stakeholder sessions as well.  And that's –- I'm just looking for the reference.  Just bear with me.

If you turn up tab I7.02, schedule 10, CCC 29.  You have it there.  I'm just turning it up myself.


So you can see in that IR response to a question from CCC we indicated that we got feedback from stakeholders on seasonal issues at the three broader stakeholder sessions, and the notes of those meetings are in Exhibit A, tab 20, schedule 1.


And then I also highlight that we also leverage information gathered from seasonal customers that participate in our customer satisfaction survey, as well as information gathered from the escalated complaints that come into our call centre, so we can filter those by the type of customer class.  So that was another source of input on the types of complaints that we're seeing from seasonal customers.


And I believe that one of the -- one of the -- in A20-1, attachment C, one of the presentations that I gave highlighted some of those comments and complaints that we received.  So there's information there about what type of complaints we received.


MR. JANIGAN:  From Hydro One's standpoint, were those two issues or these two concerns that I have put to you, were they the primary reason that you acted to make changes?

MR. ANDRE:  Yes, I would say those are the primary reasons.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, how does your proposal address the first reason about the disparity of bills and rates for seasonal and permanent residents that are in proximity of one another?


MR. ANDRE:  That was rated as a concern, but when it comes to seasonal customers -- and it's something that we struggle with to educate our customers on, because they do see those monthly bills and they compare monthly bills and say, I'm paying way more, but really, if you look at -- and this information can all be extracted from the bill impact sheets that are provided at Exhibit G2, tab 4, schedule 1, and I'm going to reference some numbers, but I can confirm that they're pulled from there.


But if you look at 2014 rates, an R2 customer, so low-density residential, at 800 kilowatt-hours per month, which is their typical consumption, is what you would expect them to consume monthly, they would pay a total of $707 for the year.


An R1, customer if you go to the bill impact sheet for an R1 customer, at 800 you would see that their total payment for the year would be -- for distribution would be 567.


Now, a seasonal customer, their average consumption over the whole year, not for those months that they're there, but when you factor in that there's a number of months where they're not there consuming electricity, their average consumption is about 400 kilowatt-hours a year, and the total that a seasonal customer consuming 400 kilowatt-hours a year would pay is $630.


So you can see that over the full year, Mr. Janigan, they pay a value that is comparable to those year-round residential customers around them.  When you look at an individual month, it looks like it's much higher, but you have got to remember that for those seasonal customers there are going to be months where they're going to be paying just that minimum monthly fixed charge.  They won't be paying anything for consumption.  And the assets, as I mentioned to a question earlier today, those assets are there, and we incur those costs over the full year.


So the goal of cost causality is to ensure that over the full year we will recover the appropriate costs, and you can see that, you know, medium year-round residential pays 567, a low-density year-round residential pays 707, and a seasonal would pay about 630, right in between those two numbers.


So over the year I think they recover the appropriate charges.  But the feedback that we get and that you point to, Mr. Branigan -- or Janigan, sorry.  Is -- my apologies --


MR. JANIGAN:  That's okay.


[Laughter]


MR. ANDRE:  -- is that is the perception that's out there, and we constantly struggle to get that perception mindset changed, because it isn't reflective of the costs to serve seasonal customers.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, for the remaining seasonal customers will there be an issue across subsidization between the higher-volume versus the lower-volume users under your proposal?


MR. ANDRE:  Unfortunately, I would say yes.  I mean, the seasonal class, even if you remove these 11,000 high-volume constant-use type seasonal customers, the ones that remain, there is still a disparity in the consumption ranges for those customers.  And I think, you know, the -- probably the best IR that showed that is FOCA 6, and I'll take you to that, because I think it's illustrative in showing you that range of consumption, and FOCA 6 is tab 701, schedule 8, FOCA 6 -- or, sorry, not FOCA 6, my mistake, FOCA 3.


So if you can turn up tab 701, schedule 8, FOCA 3.  And this shows, based on 2012 consumption data, the range of consumptions.  And like I mentioned before, Mr. Quesnelle, about 40,000 -- if you look at the customers that consume less than 100 kilowatt-hours on average, 17,000 plus 23,000, 41,000.


But -- and while we will be moving some of those customers that -- seasonal customers that are at the high-consumption amounts, you can see that there's still a relatively wide disparity in terms of the consumption levels.


There will continue to be some seasonal customers that consume large amounts of kilowatt-hours for certain months of the year.  And so, yes, that disparity that you referred to, Mr. Janigan, will still exist.


MR. JANIGAN:  And you possibly may have low-volume seasonal customers who will continue to be a separate seasonal class, be part of the separate seasonal class, which will experience the kind of differential that you've indicated and may still be -- harbour some resentment as a result.


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, that complaint that we receive about, just like we heard today, I'm not getting any service delivery.  You know, why am I paying anything for distribution?  During those months where they're not getting electricity delivered, they will be paying the monthly fixed charge.  They won't pay anything for the variable component of the rates, but that monthly fixed charge, yes, they will continue to pay for it, and it reflects the fact that those assets are in place year round to serve them, even though they may not be taking advantage of that.


And so that complaint about, I'm getting a bill and you're really not delivering electricity, you're correct.  I expect we will still continue to get those complaints.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, looking at the way in which you've approached the issue of change to the seasonal class, first I ask, as a general proposition would you agree that in grouping customers into rate classes the objective is to identify a group in the same customer class, customers that use the same assets and services and whose load and service characteristics suggest that they impose the same costs on the system in terms of their use of these assets or services?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, I would agree with that in principle.


MR. JANIGAN:  And would you agree that when it comes to identifying the cost to service a customer, or a group of customers, residency or occupancy in itself is not a cost driver, and that it would be more important to look at what the load characteristics -- how they vary in between -- as between, for example, a dwelling that is continuously occupied and one that is in seasonal use, such as the two impose materially different costs on the utility?


MR. ANDRE:  While I think the residency criteria is not the basis for creating a class, in this case the residency criteria is reflective of the type of consumption.  So seasonal customers and their residency, the reason we group them is because if you look at seasonal customers, their consumption and their use of the assets is very similar and notably different from that of year-round residential customers.


So it's more a matter of convenience to say that we're grouping seasonal, but really the reason you're grouping seasonal is because the underlying consumption, load profile and consumption amounts, are different from the other rate classes.


MR. JANIGAN:  I wonder if you could turn up tab 14.  And this is VECC 93.


And we see in part (b) in this response the average usage of a seasonal class customer at 4,344 kilowatts per year or 333 per month, is considerably less than the average usage of any customer in any of the other three residential customer classes.


Would you agree with that?


MR. BUT:  That's correct.  But I would like to emphasize that this average is based on, for seasonal customers, as Mr. Andre was talking about, we're talking about an average of 150,000 seasonal customers in Hydro One territory.  This is just an average.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  When we turn over to VECC 93(e), and -- we see that there are customers in the UR, R1 and R2 classes who use less than 500 kilowatt-hours per month, and whose usage is similar to that of seasonal customers; is that correct?


MR. BUT:  Based on the table calculated for (e), I believe that is correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, ignoring the issue of density, do you have any information that would suggest that a low-volume seasonal customer has a materially different load profile than a low-volume customer in one of these three other classes, and therefore imposes a materially different cost on your system than a low-volume customer in one of the other residential classes?


MR. BUT:  Mr. Janigan, I -- in general I would expect that if a regular non-seasonal customer have the same electricity consumption as a seasonal customer's, their load profile would be different.


I would assume that, in this case, an R1 customer –=- take a new R1 customer, for example -- in this case the reason why they have a really low consumption is because they -- they are using natural gas and they are using energy efficiency lighting at the end, and no air conditioning at the end, what they are consuming is the -- what we call the base load, very low consumption.


But the load profile for the same seasonal customer, I believe would be very different, different in the sense that for the -- in this case, for the residential customers, they will be consuming that on a monthly basis.


But for the same load consumptions, I would say on an annual basis, I would suggest those customer would be there for a very limited number of months.  And that is the reason why you have such a low consumption category.


MR. JANIGAN:  Would that affect the load profile?


MR. BUT:  The load profile would be very different, yes, because that means for a seasonal customer you literally -- if they're indeed what we call a seasonal customer, indeed you will expect that for the non-summer months, winter months in particular, you expect that the load shapes -- for example, load profile, load shape would be constant.


While for an urban customer, you would still expect the load shape reflecting that they will have cooking, they will have other requirements, watching TV, so -- when they are in the house, and so therefore there will be different load shapes on -- compared between these classes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Have you tried to quantify the difference between these two kinds of customers, in terms of the load profile?


MR. BUT:  Mr. Janigan, can you elaborate what you mean by "quantify" the profiles?


MR. JANIGAN:  In terms of you say the both of them -- between the two customers, there will be significantly different load profiles.  Have you done any studies, for example, that bear this out?


MR. BUT:  When we looked into -- when we used the 2000 -- yes, we have done an analysis using the load profile, as I mentioned earlier.  We have the smart meter data for 2012, which give us the hourly load profile for all 1.2 million customers.  And we did the analysis, and we do observe that different -- in general, a different profile between residential customer, of the seasonal customer compared to the -- say, a UR customer, for example.


MR. JANIGAN:  Is it possible to get a synopsis of that without getting something that's massive being produced, a one-pager?


MR. BUT:  Mr. Janigan, can I get a better idea what are you looking for in this one-pager?


MR. JANIGAN:  Just a summary of what you've just told me in terms of the findings.


MR. BUT:  In terms of a graph?  In terms of graph of a load profile?


So for example, if we present you a low consumption load profile on an annual basis of a seasonal customer compared to a similar low consumption urban residential customer, would that meet your requirement?


MR. JANIGAN:  That would be excellent.  Could you undertake to do that?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.


MS. LEA:  That will be J6.3.

UNDERTAKING NO. J6.3:  TO PROVIDE A CHART COMPARING A LOW CONSUMPTION LOAD PROFILE OF A SEASONAL CUSTOMER ON AN ANNUAL BASIS COMPARED TO A SIMILAR LOW CONSUMPTION URBAN RESIDENTIAL CUSTOMER.


MR. BUT:  Mr. Janigan, I want to confirm.  We're only providing two graphs, one graph for low consumption, say, urban residential customer, and one graph for a seasonal customer who would have low consumption?


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  Thank you.


Would it be fair to say the main reason why occupancy or residency is an issue for Hydro One is the existence of Ontario Regulation 44/201, which contains a requirement that certain customers receive rural rate protection if they meet specified residency requirements?


If you turn up tab 15, you'll find that set out.


MR. ANDRE:  I don't know if that was the -- I don't know if that was the sole driver for the definition.


I know that we've been allocating costs to seasonal customers.  I recently found some old rates and cost allocation-related material, and I saw a reference to a cost allocation to seasonal customers going back to 1962, and a reference to seasonal rate classes all the way back to the 1940s.


So I know that we've had seasonal classes for a very long time, and would predate the initiation or predate the -- this regulation on rural and remote electricity protection.


But I do agree the definitions as they are currently now used certainly tie closely to the regulation.


MR. JANIGAN:  Can you confirm that all customers and only customers in the R2 customer class currently receive rural and remote rate protection?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, I can confirm that.


MR. JANIGAN:  And if certain customers were included in the R2 class that were not eligible for rural and remote rate protection, your billing system could be revised so as to flag those that would receive the rural and remote rate protection versus those who would not and properly credit those customers who were eligible to receive it.  Am I correct on that?


MR. ANDRE:  I haven't specifically discussed this with our customer-service folks, but I expect you're correct.  What would be required to do that, like, I would imagine it would -- they would have to be set up almost as a separate rate class.  So a low-density R2 customer that doesn't get RRP.  So it would mean additional work in our system, and I know that part of the reason Hydro One went through its harmonization back in 2008 was to attempt to bring the number of rate classes that we have to manage with our billing system to a more reasonable number to keep the costs of that billing system down.


But technically could it be done?  I expect so.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.


MR. ANDRE:  At a cost.


MR. JANIGAN:  So while a billing system must be able to identify those customers who are eligible to receive the rural rate -- rural and remote rate protection, this doesn't have to be done by having a customer class that only consists of customers who are eligible to receive it, technically speaking.


MR. ANDRE:  Well, like I say, I don't know how they would technically implement it.  I'm not that familiar with the details of the billing system.  I expect they could do it, and they don't have to do it now, because everybody that's in the R2 low-density residential rate class is eligible for RRP, so there is no distinction required.  If you create that distinction -- and that was -- you know, as I said in response to Mr. McGee earlier, you know, part of the consideration, in addition that these 11,000 customers have consumption and consumption patterns that are similar to year-round residential, the other consideration was the administrative ease of implementing it.


So that's a proposal that we're putting forward, that those 11,000 would be eligible for RRRP, and we would leave it in the hands of the Board Panel to make the decision on that.


MR. JANIGAN:  This would be an advantageous place to break, if you wanted to take the --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.  Let's do that.


Just a reminder, we will be delivering the decision on the Hamilton -- City of Hamilton motion when we return from lunch, so please pardon the interruption in your cross, Mr. Janigan.


Why don't we resume at 1:45.  A little extra time today.  Okay.  Thank you.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:33 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:47 p.m.

RULING:


MR. QUESNELLE:  As I mentioned before the lunch break, the Board has made a determination on the motion by the city of Hamilton heard on Friday, September 12th, 2014.


The city of Hamilton brought the motion for an order freezing the rates of Hydro One Networks for the street lighting class at the 2014 levels, for a period to be determined by the Board, or in the alternative, an order requiring that the rates for street lighting class, as they may be determined in EB-2013-0416, be interim and be reconsidered and, if necessary, reset following the outcome of the Board's considerations in EB-2012-0383.


The grounds submitted for the motion included the following:

"In its report of the Board entitled 'Review of the Board's cost allocation policy for unmetered loads', EB-2012-0383, dated December 19th, 2013, the Board stated that:  'The revenue to cost ratio range for the street lighting rate class should not be narrowed unless there was sufficient evidence as to the correct methodology for setting street lighting rates, and further investigation was necessary before making a determination as to the allocation of costs to daisy-chain configured systems.'


The city of Hamilton submitted that those stated requirements for sufficient evidence and further investigation before setting rates for the street lighting class have not been fulfilled.  The city noted that the Board has, by letter dated August 21st, 2014, given notice of its intention to undertake a study of, among other things, the appropriateness for the application of existing methods of cost allocation to various street light system configurations, and to update the Board's cost allocation model with respect the cost allocation to various street lighting system configurations.


The city submitted that in light of the Board's statements in EB-2012-0383 and in light of the commencement of the study, it would be premature and unfair to the city of Hamilton to set HONI's rates for the street lighting class until the study has been completed.


No other party supported the motion.  The motion is opposed by Hydro One, the Vulnerable Energy Consumer Coalition, School Energy Coalition, Canadian Manufacturers and Exporters, Consumers Council of Canada, and Board Staff.


In support of its motion, the city argued that the Board's report in EB-2012-0383 established that the Board's expectation that rates for street lighting services would remain unchanged until further investigation had been completed.


The Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition and some others submitted that the city's interpretation of the report is incorrect, and that the Board had simply determined that there was insufficient evidence to narrow the Board's revenue to cost ratio range for street lighting class for all distributors.


Those opposed to the motion also submitted that the Board routinely initiates policy considerations or policy reviews that have the potential to alter the rate-setting methodologies that are in place, and that the Board has not in the past set the current rates as interim or freeze rates in anticipation of a potential change to the rates.  Those opposed to the motion submitted that to do so would be unworkable and result in ongoing uncertainty with respect to rates paid by customers of all rate classes.


The Board accepts the arguments of those opposed to the motion on both the interpretation of the Board's intent in the report of the Board, and the manner in which the Board should deal with current rates during reviews of rate-setting policies.


The Board's report clearly states that the revenue to cost range should not be allowed due to lack of evidence that would suggest otherwise.  The Board's various revenue to cost ranges were originally set in 2007 and have been narrowed for different classes at different stages as the cost allocation policy of the Board has evolved over time.  The Board has not refrained from setting final rates, even though the ranges have been known to be in a state of flux.  The Board considers certainty of rates paid at the time of system use to be a very important attribute of a fair and reasonable ratemaking scheme.


The Board will hear and consider Hydro One's evidence with respect to rates for the street lighting class, and make its determination giving due regard to the fact that a review of the class allocation methodology for street lighting has been initiated.


The motion brought by the city of Hamilton is denied.


So with that...


MS. LEA:  Thank you, sir.  Just -- Mr. Warren contacted me and asked me to convey his apologies for not being here.  He of course had a pre-existing obligation before he knew that the Board would be rendering a decision at this time.


I also wanted to note that Mr. Nicholas Copes has joined us.  And I believe, Mr. Copes, your counsel is coming tomorrow to do cross-examination of this panel; is that correct?


MR. COPES:  That's correct.


MS. LEA:  Thank you very much.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. ROGERS:  Before we resume, sir, may I file some additional undertaking answers, please?


MR. QUESNELLE:  Sure.  By all means, Mr. Rogers.


MR. ROGERS:  That would be J4.1, J4.7, J4.9 and attachment, J5.8, J6.1 with attachment.  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


Mr. Janigan, whenever you're ready.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.


I want to return to the reclassification of seasonal customers.  And as I understand your current practice, new residential customers in your low-density areas can qualify for rural and remote rate protection and be placed in the R2 class by completing a declaration that the dwelling concerned is their primary residence, and that they meet the criteria set out in the Hydro One tariff sheet; is that correct?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  And if you turn up at tab 16 -- you might not have to turn it up, but it's a reference from the technical conference on pages 99 to 101, that once transferred, a customer is assumed to continue to qualify as R2 and no reconfirmation is sought by Hydro One.


So from Hydro One's perspective, once in R2, a customer is in for good unless the customer indicates otherwise.  That's with respect to the seasonal customer makes a declaration.


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, that's what I -- I think that was the evidence of Mr. Adams.


MR. JANIGAN:  And this applies both to new residential customers and existing seasonal customers, as I understand it?  They can make declarations and be --


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, that's true.  Yeah.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, as I understand it, the reason you don't do any periodic checks to confirm eligibility under the rural rate -- rural and remote rate protection is cost and customer inconvenience; is that correct?


MR. ANDRE:  And I believe you're referring to the evidence of Mr. Adams.  I don't recollect my saying so, but I do seem to recollect Mr. Adams either saying so or agreeing to it.


If you can point me to the specific evidence?


MR. JANIGAN:  All right.  Let me see if I can.


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, so I see on page 99, lines 13 to 21, Mr. Harper puts the same supposition that you just did to Mr. Adams, and he answers correct on line 22.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, turning to this application, your proposal is to also include in the R2 class current seasonal customers that use over 9,600 kilowatts per year and have at least 600 kilowatt-hours per month usage in ten or more months; is that correct?


MR. ANDRE:  Substantially correct.  I just want to clarify, though, that it would only be those seasonal customers that would migrate to the R2 class that would get -- so it's not the full 11,000.  I think in your compendium you included VECC 93, and the response to part (d) showed that of the 11,000 about 6,200, 6,300 would move to the R2 class, and, yes, our proposal would be that those would receive the R2 credit.


MR. JANIGAN:  Those that qualify and --


MR. ANDRE:  And move to the R2, right.


MR. JANIGAN:  Yeah.  And can you confirm for these customers you do plan to review their usage regularly, perhaps even annually, to see if they continue to meet the usage criteria and, if not, reclassify them as seasonal?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, when the question was put to us I think I clarified that I hadn't tested that with our CIS implementation folks, but it seemed to me to be reasonable that if they were moving in as a result of having a certain consumption, that there should be some form of check to see if they're still meeting those consumption requirements to ensure that they appropriately belong in the class.


MR. JANIGAN:  I guess I have some question about why the customers qualify for R2, why there's different treatment for those that qualify by way of a declaration and those that qualify by way of usage.


MR. ANDRE:  I think from the technical conferences and in our evidence we've made it quite clear that this proposal of moving these 11,000 seasonal customers over to year-round residential rates is a balance.  It's our attempt to balance the feedback that we've heard from the various seasonal customers and the various sources.


So we recognize that it's a -- it's a proposal.  It's not perfect.  We think it addresses some of the concerns we've had, and that response about monitoring whether they -- whether they should continue to be in there really is specific to this particular proposal that is attempting to address the concerns that we've heard.


So I don't -- the suggestion that somehow it should be expanded to all R2 customers, I think Mr. Adams testified to that, and -- or perhaps he didn't, but I seem to recollect that there was some issue about the practicality of doing that check and the impact on our customers, impact meaning from a customer-relation standpoint, of having to do that check for all of our R2 customers.


So that's why we're proposing it just for these 11,000, because it really is specific to this proposal that we've put before the Board.


MR. JANIGAN:  Well, the problem, as I see it, however, is if you have a customer that it qualifies by way of usage, for example, in any given year may fail ill or fail to reside or fail to use sufficient quantities at the residence versus another customer who may in fact be, because of weather or usage resulting from illness, may continue to be in the R2 class because of the fact that they qualified by way of declaration.  Does that seem fair?


MR. ANDRE:  Hydro One recognizes that these 11,000 are seasonal customers, and we're proposing that they be allowed to pay year-round residential rates to address the concerns of these high-volume customers and the fact that their bill is so disproportionately higher than other seasonal customers.


I think it's a workable proposal that addresses those concerns, but, you know, the evidence is before the Board, and we would rely on the Board to make a decision.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, with respect to the rural rate -- rural and remote rate protection that's dealt with in the regulation that we referred to earlier, is it the intent of Hydro One in the event that the Board approves the changes that it's bringing forward to try to seek an alteration or amendment of that regulation?


MR. ANDRE:  No, we don't have any plans to seek an amendment to that regulation.


MR. JANIGAN:  And you believe that you qualify under that regulation because the new customers that you're going to be moving into R2 look a lot like the customers that are described in the regulation?  Did I get that right from this morning?


MR. ANDRE:  Yeah, that's essentially what we're proposing, yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Have you obtained a legal opinion with respect to that?


MR. ANDRE:  No.


MR. JANIGAN:  I wonder if I could have you turn up tab 17.  And this is a CCC Interrogatory No. 30.  Am I correct that the pot of rural and remote rate protection dollars available to Hydro One is fixed?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  So if more of these customers become eligible, then the amount provided per customer goes down, I assume?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, the amount per customer changes.  In this case the change is actually more significantly impacted by the rate-class review, where we have a very large number of R2 customers, currently R2 customers, that have been moving to the R1 class.


So there is another IR response that actually describes the calculation of the new RRP credit.  In the current proposal the RRP credit is changing from 28.50 per month to 30.50 per month as a result of both these seasonal that would move to R2, the portion that would move to R2, plus the impacts of the rate-class review.


MR. JANIGAN:  Well, I assume the rate-class review is responsible for the increase in the amount, and the other one would be responsible for a decrease, right?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And as more seasonal customers are identified and continue to be eligible, I take it then the amount that's paid to each rural rate -- rural and remote rate protection eligible customer will be diminished?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, as an increase in the number of R2 customers to which the credit needs to apply would result in a decrease in the amount of that credit.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I wonder if you could turn up tab 18.  And this is School Energy Coalition Interrogatory No. 60, page 1 of 2.  And this -- in this interrogatory you outline the improvements that you state are the rationale for proposing the move of revenue-cost ratios for all rate classes to within 98 percent to 102 percent over the 2015-2019 period; is that correct?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And the Board's initial cost allocation report issued in 2006 -- that's RP-2005-0317 -- and the subsequent EB-2010-0219 report both set out expectations as to how utilities should undertake cost allocation, and the revenue to cost ratio policy ranges that are applicable to each customer class in the context of that allocation methodology.  Would you agree?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, I would agree.


MR. JANIGAN:  Would you also agree that for a change in the utility's cost allocation model to be viewed as an improvement that justified moving the target revenue to cost ratios closer to 1,000, to 100 percent, the change would have to represent an improvement over the Board's expectations, as set out in these reports, as to how utilities should conduct their cost allocation analysis.  Would you agree?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, I would.  The words in the EB-2010-0219 report, I believe, says:

"The Board's policy remains that distributors should endeavour to move their revenue to cost ratios closer to 1 if this is supported by improved cost allocations."


MR. JANIGAN:  And if we turn the page to page 2 of -- in the SEC interrogatory at tab 18, I would like to focus on the third bullet, which speaks to improvements in the allocation of costs to uniform system of accounts.


First of all, can I clarify you were using the same uniform system of accounts account detail in terms of accounts as the OEB's cost allocation model?


MR. ANDRE:  Largely.  In some cases, we break out some of their accounts.  Like, the primary line account, we break that out to show the assets associated with sub-transmission assets versus primary assets.


So in some cases where we have additional detail, we break it out, but we don't add any new sub-accounts.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  You haven't introduced any additional accounts or sub-account detail over and above that model?


MR. ANDRE:  Other than the break-out of some of the existing accounts that the Board has.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, in reading this, you indicate that you've improved the allocation of the uniform system of accounts accounts.  Does this mean that there were previously areas where costs were perhaps not going to the correct account, and this has been corrected in your model?


MR. ANDRE:  Yeah.  So just to be clear, what we say is we've made an improvement in the allocation of our project and program costs to the US of A accounts.  We haven't made an improvement to the US of A accounts; we've made an improvement to the allocation of costs to those US of A accounts.


And what I'm referring to there is we've refined -- so we're continually looking at the process we used to take our -- Hydro One tracks its costs by projects.  You know, there's a line clearing program, there is a line maintenance program, all kinds of work that's broken out that way as part of our business.


For the purpose of the model, they have to be translated into US of A accounts.  And we continually do a review annually of that process, to make sure that the dollars are flowing from our projects and programs to the appropriate -- to the appropriate US of A accounts, in part because the nature of some of those projects and programs change over time, the nature of the work and the description of the programs change.  And so we have to make sure that we are continually doing that.


There is one other improvement as well.  In prior years, we would have used -- we would have used the historical break-out of the program costs and used that break-out of total OM&A across the US of As, and then applied that break-out to our forecast OM&A spending.  So use historical break–out, so you have your total OM&A, and based on your historical values, a certain amount went to each US of A.


We used that historical information to apply to the forecast total OM&A.


Now what we do is we actually apply that allocation, that project- and program-specific allocation.  We apply that to the forecast values.  So we no longer -- so if the program is changing, if there's more work in certain program areas, that is now being reflected in the allocation to the US of A account.


So that's a definite improvement over what was being done before.


MR. JANIGAN:  Is that in accordance with the Board's cost allocation model?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, absolutely.  The Board's cost allocation model requires that all costs be identified on a US of A basis, so we are -- we are ensuring that we put the appropriate costs into the correct US of A accounts.


MR. JANIGAN:  Wouldn't it be fair to say that the Board's expectation is that costs will be properly assigned, and that as a result, this was not really an improvement from what the Board had traditionally expected distributors to do?


MR. ANDRE:  I really can't speak for the Board, but I would imagine that part of the rationale for having the broad range that it does in the -- for revenue to cost ratio ranges is a recognition that the allocation isn't always done perfectly.


And so I think making an improvement to that allocation of costs by US of A, I would see it as an improvement.


MR. JANIGAN:  It could also be seem as simply conforming to the Board's cost allocation policy; isn't that correct?


MR. ANDRE:  I think I already gave my answer.  I think part of the reason the range is what it is for residential -- from 85 percent to 115 percent and that broad range for the other classes -- is a recognition that that allocation isn't perfect.


I would agree the Board hopes that -- or expects utilities to make that allocation by US of A as accurate as possible, but we're identifying here that we've taken steps to improve it.


MR. JANIGAN:  In your application, you're proposing to move revenue to cost ratios for all classes to within a range of 98 to 102 percent over the five-year custom period.


Can you tell us how you came about to select this particular range, as opposed to 90 percent to 110 percent or 95 percent to 105 percent?


MR. ANDRE:  We felt that moving it to -- I mean, ideally we would have like liked to have moved it to a value of 1, as the Board report suggests, but we recognize that there could be changes year to year that would result in small variations around 1.  Or variations that would mean if you have an absolute value of 1 you're going to be making changes every time you come before the Board with a new cost allocation model.


So we wanted to allow some flexibility on that, and there was no hard science behind the 98 to 102, other than it represented a small band around which we thought year-to-year variations could be accommodated.


MR. JANIGAN:  I wonder if you could turn to tab 20.  And it has a number of materials from Canadian utilities, Fortis Alberta, BC Hydro and Manitoba Hydro.


And the documentary material indicates that they all use 95 to 105 percent as their range of reasonableness for revenue to cost ratios.  Were you aware of that?


MR. ANDRE:  No, actually I wasn't, but I did see your compendium and I agree that all three of those references referred to those ranges.


MR. JANIGAN:  Is there any reason why your range should be any smaller than what these large utilities with long histories in cost allocation are using?


MR. ANDRE:  Well, you know, we think we followed the intent of the Board and have put forward before the Board a series of improvements that we think merit a narrowing of the range.


But if the Board -- and I think it's up to the Board to sort of review what we put forward, and -- as to whether they're convinced that the range should go to as tight as we proposed, 98 to 102.  If the Board feels that 95 to 105, because of consistency with other jurisdictions, would be a more appropriate tightening of the range, Hydro One is in the hands of the Board in that respect.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.


Next topic in rate design is the topic of the increase to fixed charges.  And I wonder if you can turn up page 21 -- sorry, tab 21, page 6, tab 4, schedule 1.  And can you confirm that for most customer classes -- and I believe the exceptions are R2, streetlights, and sentinel lights -- your proposal is to set the 2015 fixed charge at the customer unit costs minimum system with peak load carrying charge adjustment as calculated in sheet number 2 of the cost allocation model, per G1, tab 4, schedule 1, page 6, which is before you.  Is that correct?


MR. ANDRE:  You mentioned R2, streetlight, and sentinel light, and I agree with those.  And in addition, the seasonal class is the other one where our proposal is to use the average of the fixed/variable split for R1 and R2.  So with seasonal in there, yes, I would agree that's the list.  And we are proposing to use that scenario 3 customer unit cost per minimum system.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, in principle can you confirm that this value represents the unit value or the per customer value of all the customer-related costs allocated to the class, including those associated with the minimum system, with one adjustment, and that is the peak load carrying charge adjustment; is that correct?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, that's my understanding of what sheet 02 of the Board's model, which is where these numbers come from, that's my understanding of what the Board's model calculates.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And can you confirm that in this calculation the purpose of the peak load carrying charge adjustment is to recognize the fact that the minimum system inherently also serves a minimal amount of demand and the purpose of the adjustment is to estimate and remove demand costs inherent in the minimum system calculation so the resulting unit costs capture just customer costs?  Have I got that correct?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, so I listened very carefully to how you just described that, because, to be quite honest, this -- when I started running the model, I've looked at that 02 sheet carefully, and I see that the peak load -- and it's

-- I think PLCC stands for peak load carrying capability, Mr. Janigan.


And I think your description of what that peak load carrying capability adjustment is intended to do sounds very reasonable to me, but as I said, I wasn't involved in the development of that model.  At this point we are users of the results that come out of that sheet.  The theory behind it I'm not as familiar with.  But like I said, what you've suggested sounded reasonable.


MR. JANIGAN:  I would note that on tab 22 we've reproduced the RP-2005-0317 cost allocation review, which I think outlines the same thing.


Now, for Hydro One the peak load carrying capability applies to primary, secondary, and line transformer costs, and the objective then is to remove an appropriate portion of each of these; is that correct?


MR. ANDRE:  The objective of the adjustment?


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, that's my understanding.


MR. JANIGAN:  And in VECC compendium 23, we've provided an extract of sheet 02 of Hydro One's 2015 cost allocation model.  And can you confirm that UR, R1, and seasonal classes are allocated via the minimum system customer-related cost associated with the primary and secondary system, as well as line transformers?


MR. ANDRE:  Sorry, Mr. Janigan, could you repeat that, please?


MR. JANIGAN:  Sure.  Can you confirm that the UR, the R1, and seasonal classes are allocated via the minimum system customer-related costs associated with the primary and secondary system, as well as the line transformers?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, on the UR and the R1.  As I've mentioned, the seasonal -- our approach to setting the minimum fixed charge for seasonal is to use -- does not come out of the -- we're not the using the value from the Board model.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Would one expect that there would be a positive value for the peak load carrying capacity adjustment for each of these to recognize that the costs associated with the minimum system are also associated with the supply of a minimum amount of demand per customer?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, I think that's fair, and as your compendium shows, that is not the case for seasonal customers, so I recognize that the model as -- and just to be clear, Hydro One made no adjustments to the Board's cost allocation model on this tab.  But I do recognize that there are odd results for the seasonal class.


MR. JANIGAN:  And I think as well if we look at the last page of this tab.


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, for the PLC -- for the line transformer of UR and R1 as well, yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  We're seeing zero values.  That seems to mean that there's something wrong, right?  There should be some amount --


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, I would agree.  I did go back and look at this same tab in our 2010 cost allocation model, and the values were zero for the PLCC adjustment to line transformers for UR and R1 in 2010 as well, which I think is part of the reason that I hadn't caught this.


MR. JANIGAN:  So in general terms, if there's minimum system assets, there should be a positive value, and that's about as far as I can take it from my own understanding of this, and --


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, and I would agree.  I would agree with that.


MR. JANIGAN:  Yeah.  The last thing I want to deal with is miscellaneous charges, or are miscellaneous charges.  If you could turn up in tab 24, and that's Exhibit A, tab 21, schedule 1, page 2.


MR. ANDRE:  Sorry, say again?  Exhibit A?


MR. JANIGAN:  Exhibit -- it's in tab 24.


MR. ANDRE:  Oh, right.  Gotcha, gotcha, yes, I see it.


MR. JANIGAN:  Page 2.  The first item in table 2 notes that one of the directives from EB-2010-0228 was that the issue of space allocation on joint-use poles and the resulting specific charges be revisited in Hydro One's next rebasing application.


In this table you've indicated that this is addressed in Exhibit G2, tab 5, schedule 1.  And we have reviewed this schedule and cannot find where the issue of space allocation on joint poles was revisited.  Is it possible that could be pointed out?


MR. ANDRE:  Let me see if I can help you.  I know that the issue of miscellaneous charges, my understanding that it was going to be addressed in written form.  So -- but I thought -- I'll take one look and if I can't find it in this one spot, then I'm going to have to...


MR. JANIGAN:  I'm content with an undertaking with respect to this.


MR. ROGERS:  Part of the problem here is that my recollection is and my instructions are that this was discussed at the issues conference, and it was decided that external revenues would not be for the oral hearing but would be dealt with in written form.  I think this is a component of that.  Could we just leave it at that, that we'll deal with it, I guess, in argument, I suppose?


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Janigan?


MR. JANIGAN:  Certainly if that was what was decided at the external -- at the technical conference, I don't want to disturb that agreement.  And we'll push forward.


MR. ROGERS:  I think I'm correct.  It didn't find its way on the issues list.  I'm not trying to head off the topic.  I just believe it was decided it would be dealt with in writing.  It even has to be, because we can't answer the question anyway.  So it's either an undertaking or by way of argument.


MR. ANDRE:  It was in a letter.  It was in a letter from -- either to -- to Board Staff, I believe, indicating that this item would be dealt with in written form.


MS. LEA:  Can you reiterate which item that was, please?


MR. ANDRE:  The discussion on any items related to miscellaneous -- the -- I think the last two issues related to miscellaneous charges, the miscellaneous charge-related issues.


MS. LEA:  I don't have that letter to hand.  I can certainly check it, because we can dig it up, but...


MR. ROGERS:  I don't know there's a problem as long as Mr. Janigan is agreeable to just dealing with it in his written argument.


MS. LEA:  I don't think there were any contentious issues raised which related to miscellaneous charges, so consequently I believe it was one of those things we were going to do by way of argument.


MR. JANIGAN:  If that's the case, I will be content to address the issue in argument and leave it at that.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.


MR. JANIGAN:  And that concludes my questions.  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Thank you, panel, for your patience.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.


I'm looking around.  I don't know -- Ms. Girvan?  Are you okay there, or...

Cross-Examination by Ms. Girvan:


MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you very much, panel.  Nice to see you again.  I'm going to be fairly brief; Mr. Janigan has covered off a lot of what I was intending to ask.


So I'm focusing primarily on the seasonal rate issue, which we've been talking about for quite some time.


My first question for you, Mr. Andre, is take, for example, in terms of qualifying for seasonal, or I guess qualifying for residential, essentially.


What if you're a permanent resident with a driver's license registered at your home in Hydro One's service territory, but you go to Florida for six months, let's just say, so you're using very little electricity?  Are you residential or are you seasonal?  It's a different -- it's not the cottager situation, but it's just -- are you residential or are you seasonal?


MR. ANDRE:  Per our criteria for year-round residential, you would be residential.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Let's say you're residential and you're in the R2 class under that particular set of circumstances.  Would you qualify for the rural rate protection?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes.  All customers in the R2 class qualify for the rural rate protection.


MS. GIRVAN:  But isn't one of the qualifications for that you must occupy the premises four days a week for eight months a year?


MR. ANDRE:  We -- you know, from prior Board decisions, the agreement has -- or what we have indicated to the Board previously and what we have done since the late '70s when rural rate assistance, as it was called then, came into effect is apply it to all customers in an eligible class.


MS. GIRVAN:  I guess my point is really that there may well be customers in your rate -- your R2 class that really don't technically qualify according to the regulation?


MR. ANDRE:  They would be -- they would be in a year-round residential class, or they're using their property year-round, you're right.  We don't make that check.


We just confirm that they are in a year-round residential rate class.


MS. GIRVAN:  It's just sort of pointing out some of the problems with this whole idea.  It's not clear-cut, you'd agree with me?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, I would agree with you.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  So I just want to confirm that it's your position -- and I think I've learned this this morning anyway -- that it's your position that if seasonal customers move to rate 2, to R2, that they would not get RRRP, rural rate protection?


MR. ANDRE:  If all -- so in that scenario where we eliminate the seasonal class and all customers, all seasonal customers go to either the R1 or the R2 class depending on where they're located, under that scenario, yes, our proposal is that --


MS. GIRVAN:  So under your proposal, you're proposing that the seasonal customers that you're moving over do get it?


MR. ANDRE:  The 6,000, yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  But if, for example, the Board made a decision to eliminate the seasonal rate classes altogether, it's your position that seasonal, previously seasonal customers would not get the rural rate protection?


I just want to be clear about what your position is.


MR. ANDRE:  Yes.  That is our position, and I recognize that there is a certainly element of inconsistency on there.  And as I've clarified, really the 6,000 was the -- tried to mitigate the impact on our customer information system.  I think I referred to that as CIS before, our customer information system.  And the implementation aspects associated with that in trying to identify these 6,000 that are treated differently.


And I think we would be accepting and -- of the inconsistency if it's related to 6,000 customers, but if we're talking about the 150,000 customers that would be moving if the rate -- if the seasonal class was eliminated, then I think we would absolutely stick more firmly with -- or more rigidly to the Ontario regulation.


MS. GIRVAN:  So your position on those two scenarios is really practical, trying to be practical?  Is that what you're saying?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes.  The position on why the 6,000 of the 11,000 seasonal customers, the 6,000 that moved to the R2 class, why they should continue to get the R2 or be eligible for the RRRP, the rural rate assistance, is maybe one of practicality.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  If you could turn to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 94, so it's Exhibit I, tab 702, Staff 94.


So again, this is an analysis that sets out what would happen if you did eliminate the seasonal class, and I want to make sure I understand this.  And I think there's sort of two implications from this proposal, if it's a proposal.


And the first is, if you look at Table 1, when you eliminate the seasonal class, you have revenue that you're going to have to reallocate across the other rate classes; is that correct?


MR. ANDRE:  Well, when you eliminate the seasonal class, it changes the allocation of cost to all of the classes, results in new revenue to cost ratios, and then -- yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  My question is -- you're eliminating the class.  You have to take revenue and you have to reallocate it amongst the different rate classes?  The revenue that you would have gotten from the seasonal class originally?


MR. ANDRE:  Right.  I just wouldn't -- Ms. Girvan, I just wouldn't characterize it as a reallocation.  What we do is we now say:  Okay, how many customers are in the R1 class, the R2 class, and then follow the Board methodology, revenue at current rates.


MS. GIRVAN:  So if you look at table 1, then, can you explain to me the change in the "Distribution bill" line, the percentages?  Are those relative -- can you just explain to me what that column means?


MR. ANDRE:  The change in total bill?


MS. GIRVAN:  So say for instance the general service demand-based, the 22 percent -- .8 percent increase, can you explain what that means?  22 percent relative to what?


MR. ANDRE:  So the -- that number is -- it's an update to the -- it's an update to the value, so there would have been a

value under our proposed scenario with the seasonal class, and maybe it's helpful to turn that up.


MS. GIRVAN:  So this is the ultimate change in their bill as a result of --


MR. ANDRE:  That's right.  So if you eliminated the seasonal class, the one you pointed to, the 22.8, that's for GST customers, so what that would mean is, GST customer at 2014 rates, if the rates that they would pay under a scenario where there is no seasonal class would result in a 22.8 percent increase.


Now, that number would have been a high number as well, you know, under the -- our proposed scenario.  It's just slightly different, and in terms of how different, I had the number.  I just noted it here beside the table at the total bill level, so I can tell you that.


So at the total bill level the GST under this scenario would see a 5.3 percent increase.  Do you see that number in the table?  As proposed.  So if you go to our evidence

-- and it's in the evidence, in the bill impacts exhibit -- it's 3.5 percent on the total bill.


So under this scenario the GST customer would see a slightly higher total bill impact with the

elimination of --

MS. GIRVAN:  So the implications of eliminating the seasonal rate class is to affect all the other rate classes.


MR. ANDRE:  Absolutely.


MS. GIRVAN:  So the other -- what I see as potential problem of eliminating the seasonal rate class is, if you go down to the next table, table 2, and we've talked about this at the technical conference, and I just want to be clear that one of the -- the biggest problems would be with the low-volume monthly consumption seasonal customers that are moved to R2; is that correct?


MR. ANDRE:  Certainly a huge problem for the low-volume, the 50 -- and I think we'd shown that there's about 17,000 customers that are in that bucket.  But even at the typical consumption level of 400, the customers -- seasonal customers moving to R2 would still see a fairly significant increase there in --


MS. GIRVAN:  So they'd see a 40 --


MR. ANDRE:  -- that's total bill, 21.4 --


MS. GIRVAN:  40 -- but 40 percent change in their distribution rate.


MR. ANDRE:  Right.  40 percent, and 21.4 percent on total bill, so that's even for the average seasonal.


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Andre, can I ask you just to wait until Ms. Girvan finishes her question before you start to answer, please?


MS. GIRVAN:  So really, these are sort of two reasons -- two sort of the major reasons why you don't see eliminating the seasonal class as a viable alternative.  Is that your position?


MR. ANDRE:  The bill impacts and the fact that it doesn't really -- it doesn't provide a good alignment with cost causality, and shifts costs to other classes we believe inappropriately, so, yes, the alignment to cost causality and the bill impacts resulting to a large number of seasonal customers are the two primary reasons --


MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  I think this was again -- I'm going through some things that were discussed at the technical conference, but I just want to be very clear.  So you undertook these focus groups -- there were seven focus groups -- and within the context of those focus groups you talked to 38 customers?


MR. ANDRE:  I know we --


MS. GIRVAN:  I think that's correct.


MR. ANDRE:  Yeah --


MS. GIRVAN:  I need to check, yeah.


MR. ANDRE:  I get that -- I know we spoke to a number of associations.  Is 38 the number of associations or the number of customers?


MS. GIRVAN:  It's customers.


MR. ANDRE:  It's customers?  Okay.  Yeah, I'll take it that you found the reference in the --


MS. GIRVAN:  And I guess -- I guess really what I'm asking you to agree with me is, you really didn't undertake a comprehensive consultation on this issue.


MR. ANDRE:  Well, no, I would challenge that view, Ms. Girvan --


MS. GIRVAN:  38 customers out of 150,000.


MR. ANDRE:  Plus the consultations we had with the broader intervenor group in this application --


MS. GIRVAN:  I agree.


MR. ROGERS:  Well, just please let -- Ms. Girvan, let him finish, please, his answer.  And also, I'm just going to say, I want to check this 38 customers.  I believe it may be associations, but please carry on, but one person talk at a time.


MR. ANDRE:  The feedback that we get from seasonal customers in the customer satisfaction surveys that we do, so we're able to filter out for seasonal customers.  And then the feedback from escalated complaints to our customer call centre from seasonal customers specifically.


So I would say it's not just the focus group.  I think -- I think I previously testified that seasonal issues have been an issue for a long time, and so we have a large body of complaints and surveys in addition to the focus groupings.


MS. GIRVAN:  Do you -- in the context of your customer call centre do you discuss rate options with your customers?  Or did you discuss rate options with your customers in the context of coming up with your proposal?


MR. ANDRE:  No, no, what we have is the feedback on what it is, what are the rub points, what are the issues that are of concern to them.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.


So I just want to confirm -- we've heard a few numbers, but I think the new rural rate protection amount for the rate -- for the R2 customers is -- it's $30 a month?  Is that correct?


MR. ANDRE:  I thought it was 30.50 --


MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah, I think --


MR. ANDRE:  -- Ms. Girvan.  Yeah, 30.50, and it --


MS. GIRVAN:  And it was 28.50.


MR. ANDRE:  And it was 28.50.  And just for the record, that calculation and derivation of the 30.50 is provided in the IR response to -- at issue 7.07, schedule 6, VECC 110 shows the derivation of the 30.50.


MS. GIRVAN:  Could you turn to FOCA No. 6?  And it's one of the questions that Mr. McGee was referring to this morning, the one that was updated, I think, on September 2nd, please.


So again, we talked a little bit about this at the technical conference, and I'm still somewhat confused.  So here we have your residential classes, and we've got your urban residential, R1 and R2, and seasonal.  And I'm just trying to understand why there's such a variance between -- specifically between the R2 fixed charge and the seasonal variable charge.  Those are the two things relative to the other rate classes.  Those stand out.


And if you could first discuss with me why is the R2 fixed charge so high?


MR. ANDRE:  So that fixed charge is -- like I said, it's not one that's tied to -- that's tied to the Board minimum system value.  I think that value would be slightly less.  Of course, you recognize that this 67.58 is before the 28.50 credit.


MS. GIRVAN:  I do.


MR. ANDRE:  It's -- I mean, it is the charge -- and before they had the model to sort of calculate the amount, we charged a high fixed charge to recognize that rural customers because of their low density have a lot of assets in place to serve them.  And the cost of those assets are there independent of the extent to which they are used.


So a higher fixed charge is intended to reflect that base cost of having the assets in place to serve them.  That particular number, as I said, it was a number that was previously approved by the Board, and all we're doing in this application is applying the revenue requirement increase that we're seeking and applying it equally to both the fixed and variable charge.


So the number that you see there is the existing fixed charge increased by the increase in revenue requirement that we're seeking in this application.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So you referred to the fact that it reflects the fact that in rural areas the assets are spread around and there's a lot of fixed charges.  I would assume the same thing would be the case with respect to the seasonal class, and I'm just trying to understand the difference between the fixed rates.


And I realize that the R2 fixed rate is mitigated through the rural rate protection, but your starting point is the $67, and I'm just trying to understand the difference between those two.


MR. ANDRE:  Yes.  So if -- if you go to our -- if you go to the evidence on fixed charges that's at Exhibit G1, tab 4, schedule 1, and it's at page 6.  I believe this was the same table Mr. Janigan had put up before.


And you can see here that the minimum -- the minimum fixed charge as calculated by the model is 51.66.  And as Mr. Janigan said, there's a bit of an issue with some of the numbers in that model.  So whether it's exactly 51.66 or some number around that is, I guess, at issue.


But it would suggest that if you are really trying to recover that base, the cost of those base assets that you need to serve them, their fixed charge should be more up in that neighbourhood.


Now, why is our proposal only $30?  Or in this table, you can see the proposal is $26.  It's because if you look at the current, if you look at the 2000 -- the first column that shows the current fixed charge for seasonal customers, you see that it's at $19.71.  It's a very low charge.


And we felt that bringing it up to that minimum value of 51.66 would have a very large impact on those low-volume seasonal customers, those 41,000 that are below 100 kilowatt-hours per month.


MS. GIRVAN:  I realize that.


MR. ANDRE:  So that's part of the reason why we wouldn't have gone to a high value, you know, somewhere in the 50s, and chose instead to charge them a fixed charge that's somewhere between R1 and R2 value.


And to be specific, what we did was we took the average fixed/variable split for R1 and R2, and applied that percentage to the seasonal to come up with the seasonal fixed charge.


MS. GIRVAN:  Getting back to the $67, that's the one I'm more curious about.  I understand what you've done with respect to seasonal.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Excuse me.  Could you scroll down?  I want to see the filing date on this.  I have a chart here that doesn't match the numbers.


Okay.  I don't have that update.  Okay.  Thanks.


MS. GIRVAN:  I understand what you're saying, is you're trying to bring it up to the minimum system.


MR. ANDRE:  Working towards it.


MS. GIRVAN:  But R2, you're already well above that, and I'm just trying to understand the logic of that.


MR. ANDRE:  Right.


MS. GIRVAN:  Historical?  Is that --


MR. ANDRE:  That's part of it.  The paragraph below the table discusses why we believe it's appropriate to apply the fixed charge we've proposed for the R2 rate class.  You can see that -- and just to read what's there:

"The R2 fixed charge has been set based on the currently approved '14 charge, escalated for the increase in rates revenue requirements."


As I said before.
"The proposed fixed charge using this approach results in the collection of 56 percent of revenue from fixed charges."


Which is what – which is the level of -- the amount of fixed revenue we're currently collecting from the class.


So we're not proposing to increase the amount of revenue collected through fixed charges from what we are currently doing.  So we're proposing to hold that constant, hold it at a value that's been previously approved by the Board.


And I also point out that, in fact, the R2 class, in 2008 we were collecting 71.3 percent of that, of the fixed -- of the total revenue, we were collecting 71 percent of that revenue via a fixed charge.


So the R2 class has historically had a high fixed charge.  It was considerably higher at 71 percent.  What we're proposing to do is maintain it at the value that the Board has previously approved and we're not proposing to change it for this application.


MS. GIRVAN:  But one of the options might be to reduce it; is that correct?  If, for example, there was a proposal to eliminate the seasonal class, that would mitigate the impact on the low-volume seasonal customers?


MR. ANDRE:  The – yes, I -- you know, I --


MS. GIRVAN:  It's a possibility?  You could do that?


MR. ANDRE:  The fixed -- the R2 rate class represents a very large portion of the revenue that's collected by Hydro One, and reducing the fixed charge for this class would have a significant impact on the overall fixed/variable split of the revenue that's collected by Hydro One.


So I would see this as certainly going contrary to the revenue decoupling proposal that the Board is looking at right now, that's proposing to increase -- or not increase, but to change the rates for all customers to 100 percent fixed basis.


Your proposal would actually go in the other direction, would take us much farther from where we've always historically been with the R2 rate class in terms of their proportion of revenue that comes from fixed charges.  So --


MS. GIRVAN:  But it may well deal with some of the problems we're having with respect to the seasonal class issues?


MR. ANDRE:  It certainly wouldn't deal with the most fundamental issue, which eliminating the seasonal class has big concerns from a cost causality standpoint.  It may address partially the impacts, but that fundamental principle of trying to ensure that each rate class pays for the -- and customers pay for the cost of serving them, would not be addressed by changing the fixed charges.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  The -- I have just a few more questions.  One of the questions is -- and this is in response to a Balsam Lake interrogatory, No. 8, so it's tab 7.02, schedule 7, Balsam Lake No. 8.


I realize that it looks at the rate structure for Veridian, which is a -- they have seasonal rates, which I assume is up in the Parry Sound area.  And Hydro One's.


And I realize the cost structures for utilities are different, but have you looked at why there is a significant difference between the rates that Veridian charges versus yours?


MR. ANDRE:  No.  We haven't looked at it, but I think the interrogatory response is very clear as to why it would be inappropriate to look at it.


There are some very fundamental factors that drive differences in rates between utilities.  They're listed there: the total revenue requirement, the cost allocation model inputs that each utility has, their load forecast and load profile assumptions, their revenue to cost ratios.  You know, we're making efforts to bring our revenue to cost ratios closer to 1.  Perhaps theirs are way off.  The fixed and variable revenue split, the approach to that.  So all of those factors would result in substantially different rates for each utility, not just Veridian, and so --


MS. GIRVAN:  You haven't looked at this in a detailed way?


MR. ANDRE:  No, we haven't.


MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  Can you go back again to the FOCA No. 6 that we were looking at a few minutes ago, the one that was updated on September 2nd?


And I had asked you specifically about the R2 fixed rate.  Again, I'm looking at the seasonal variable rate, and I'm just trying to understand why that's so significantly different than for your other residential rate classes.


MR. ANDRE:  Yes.  Part of the reason that it's so much higher is because the cost allocation defines the pot of money from each rate class, including the seasonal rate class.


At a fixed charge value of $30 per month, that generates a certain amount of the revenue.  The balance of that revenue, given the very relatively -- like, on average for seasonal customers, they're low consumption over the whole year.


So we still need to collect that total pot of money.  We know what we're getting from fixed, $30 per customer per month.  The balance has to be collected from their volume.


Unfortunately, the volume generated by the seasonal class is a lot lower than the volumes generated by the UR, R1 and R2 rate classes.  So on a per-kilowatt-hour basis, the charge needs to be higher in order to fully recover that pot of money that's attributable to serving that rate class.


MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.


We had a discussion at the technical conference, and it's also referred to in CCC No. 31.  So it's tab 702, CCC 31.


And what we were looking at is other examples of seasonal rates, and I was asking you at the technical conference -- I don't have the reference with me -- about Manitoba, and you said you hadn't really looked at it very carefully.  Have you done since the technical conference -- have you done any further work at looking at other rate structures that deal with the seasonal situation?


MR. ANDRE:  I recollect the discussion.  I don't recollect making any commitment to examine other jurisdictions.  And, no, the answer to your question is --


MS. GIRVAN:  So I --


MR. ANDRE:  -- I haven't looked at it --


MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah, I'm not saying I asked you to --


MR. ANDRE:  Right.


MS. GIRVAN:  -- do that, but I'm just wondering, in the context of trying to find a solution to what I see as somewhat problematic rate structures, I just wondered if you'd gone any further in terms of taking a more careful look at what some of the other jurisdictions, including Manitoba, have done, but your answer is no, I guess.


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, I think -- the one thing I can confirm, based on refreshing my memory with the IR response here, is that the -- those other jurisdictions that are mentioned in the second paragraph, including Manitoba Hydro, my understanding is that they don't do a specific allocation of costs to serving seasonal customers.  They treat seasonal customers differently.  I think there are some rules around, you know, if I recollect, there are some rules around having to pay that minimum monthly charge.  There's some minimum payments associated with it, but they don't have a separate set of rates for seasonal customers, because in their jurisdictions they don't go through the effort that we do in Ontario of identifying the costs associated with serving that rate class.


MS. GIRVAN:  Right.  Thank you.


Mr. McGee was talking this morning about the 11,000 customers that you're proposing to move to the other R1 and R2.  And I guess the question that we talked -- he was getting at the question of residence, occupancy, and your eight-month requirement.


But have you done any research to figure out whether or not they aren't occupying the property but they're using electricity?  And the examples would be baseboard heaters, bubblers to keep ice from forming, and electricity to keep water lines from freezing?  Have you done any research to figure out whether those 11,000 customers are -- have those characteristics?


I'll let Mr. But add to my response if he wants.  But I guess I was asking to see if he had some familiarity with whether those things that you mentioned, bubblers and minimum heat to keep the water from freezing, whether they would account for 600 -- remember, our proposal is 600 kilowatt-hours for at least ten months.


So to me, 600 kilowatt-hours per month is a fairly high level, which I would have thought would have been beyond those simple items -- those few items that you mentioned, but I'm not sure that we have a definitive answer.  Do you have anything?


MR. BUT:  We haven't done specific survey or research, but I believe that 600 is a fairly sizable consumption that I would -- and particular we put it as at least ten months.


So if you have those usage just for the winter months, then how you going to explain that you have the same -- similar consumptions for the -- for at least ten months?


MS. GIRVAN:  You could have a lot of baseboard heaters.


MR. BUT:  Will you use your baseboard heater in the summer?


MS. GIRVAN:  Sometimes.  You might be using other things in the summer, right?  Anyway, it's just -- so you haven't really explored whether that's a possibility then.


MR. BUT:  I can confirm that we haven't done specific research doing surveys to find out, no.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Just a couple more questions.  Thank you.


Now, Mr. Andre, just at the technical conference again we had -- we've had many discussions, but I'm going back, and if you can just -- maybe the Board would be helped by this.  If you can go back to explaining -- you used to have two seasonal rate classes, R3 and R4; is that correct?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, that's correct.


MS. GIRVAN:  Can you explain what the criteria was for those rate classes?


MR. ANDRE:  So prior to 2008 the seasonal rate class also had a density-based distinction.  So the R3 were the seasonal customers located in the small-town environment and R4 were the seasonal customers located in the low-density areas.  And as part of the harmonization and simplification of Hydro One's rate structure, which was the subject of the 2008 cost-of-service application, evidence was put forward to amalgamate those two rate classes to try to reduce the number of classes that have to be administered to in our billing system with the hopes of reducing costs and gaining some efficiencies.


So that was the distinction on R3, R4.  It was sort of like a small-town seasonal rate and a rural seasonal rate.


MS. GIRVAN:  Because the costs were different to serve those customers, right?  There was a differentiation --


MR. ANDRE:  Yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  -- in the cost.  So I know you're reluctant because you've said, well, we've gone through the harmonization process and we're trying to reduce the number of rate classes, but would you agree that it might be a possibility to go back to the two different seasonal rate classes?  It's a possible solution to some of the problems you're having with respect to seasonal customers.


MR. ANDRE:  So I guess I don't see that it would be a solution.  The main issue we've had is that disparity between low-volume and high-volume and that high -- that high volumetric rate that you took me to in that table and asked me to explain why the volumetric rate is so high for seasonal customers, and that results in high charges if you're a high-consuming seasonal customer.  And so that issue would still -- you could have, you know, small-town seasonal customers, some which are low-consuming, some which are high-consuming, and then the same in the rural, you know, a rural seasonal class.  You could have the high and low.


So to me that's the most fundamental issue, is that's the core source of the complaints that we get, is why, you know -- especially for higher-volume seasonal customers -- why our charge is so high, and I don't know that splitting the class into two -- in fact, I shouldn't say I don't know.  Splitting the class into two in my view certainly doesn't address that issue.


MS. GIRVAN:  Is there a way that you could split it in two, not necessarily high-volume and low-volume or high-density, low-density, to solve the problems?


MR. ANDRE:  One of the options that we put forward at those focus groups that you discussed or that you mentioned was the possibility of creating a low-volume seasonal class and a high-volume seasonal class, and it didn't -- it certainly didn't get the feedback and positive response that we had hoped.  Initially I thought that that might be a good avenue, but the feedback that we got suggested that seasonal customers weren't interested in that as a --


MS. GIRVAN:  That 32 -- 32 customers.


MR. ANDRE:  -- solution.


MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me, Ms. Girvan has said that about three times, and I've heard it bandied about elsewhere too.  I believe if you look at the evidence at G1, tab 2, schedule 2, the report on seasonal customer-focus groups, you'll find that the 38 -- these are 38 representatives of various associations representing thousands of people.  Mr. Andre didn't go out on Eglinton Avenue at noon hour and talk to 38 people.


MS. GIRVAN:  We can argue about whether we think it's comprehensive or not, so that's fine.


MR. ROGERS:  Let's be accurate, please.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So you're reluctant to go back to what was a differentiation between density within the seasonal rates.


MR. ANDRE:  Because I don't see it as solving the issues that have been raised.


MS. GIRVAN:  And can I just ask you one final question?  Did you retain any cost allocation rate design experts to look at the seasonal issue, in terms of coming up with a solution that gets away from some of the problems associated with these occupancy-based rates?


MR. ANDRE:  No, we did not engage any outside assistance.  I've been involved in cost allocation and rate design for a number of years.  Hydro One -- or Hydro One -- Ontario has an arrangement whereby all utilities are required to follow the Board's cost allocation methodology, used a cost allocation model to derive its rates, so given those constraints, we didn't think that it was an efficient use of our -- you know, we didn't think there was any merit to engaging --


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Ms. Girvan.


Just on that last one, Mr. Andre, your response to Ms. Girvan.  I was going to ask -- and you triggered my memory on this -- when you're looking at the seasonal -- and you've mentioned a couple times that certain elements of it are not derived with the use of a model.  So just when you're saying that all distributors have to use the model and therefore it's kind of output-based had the Board determined what the model is, and that you have the inputs and whatever comes out comes out, but you've made determinations that certain elements of the seasonal rate do not rely on the model?  Am I understanding that correctly?


MR. ANDRE:  You are.  And it's just with respect to the fixed charges, so not with respect to the allocation of costs required to serve the class and how that relates to the revenues collected from the class and what you do about that revenue to cost ratio discrepancy.


The one place where -- and really it's not a -- the Board's model, sheet 02, suggests actually three levels of fixed charges.  So when it comes to fixed charges, I think that sheet is intended to provide some guidance on what the fixed charges will be.  And we believe that it provides good guidance with respect to what the fixed charges should be.


But in the case of the seasonal class, moving to that good guidance, that minimum system-based charge, would have resulted in large impacts, which is why we're proposing to fall somewhat short of that minimum fixed charge as recommended by the model.


But it's just with respect to the fixed charges.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Ms. Lea, maybe you can help me out.  Is Mr. Poch going to be coming up next?


MS. LEA:  Yes.  I understand he is willing to cross-examine after the break.


[Laughter]


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  That was what I was going to suggest, but thanks for that prompt.


Yes, Mr. Poch.  We'll take a break now and we'll resume at 3:30.

--- Recess taken at 3:09 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:31 p.m.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.


Unless there's any other matters, I don't think --


MR. ROGERS:  No.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Poch?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Poch:


MR. POCH:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  First let me thank the Board and my friends and in particular Ms. Lea for facilitating the arrangement whereby Mr. Marcus can avoid flying across the continent for a few minutes of attendance.


Mr. Rogers has agreed that Mr. Marcus could file a brief response to the written response that his witnesses have filed.  That's certainly satisfactory.  I understand that his evidence in that -- including that will be treated as -- it's not disputed that they can be treated as expert testimony in this case, and we'll make sure the appropriate documents were filed with the Board and we'll try to expedite the filing of any comment that Mr. Marcus has arising from the comments of the Hydro One witnesses.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Poch, did you say you will be making a submission on having him, or are you saying that the applicant has no issue with the -- Mr. Marcus being considered?


MR. POCH:  Oh, I thought Mr. Rogers had indicated to the Board -- and I understood -- not being here, I wasn't familiar with what's transpired.  I had understood that Mr. Rogers had indicated to the Board that he was content that Mr. Marcus -- we could file a short piece by Mr. Marcus if we felt it necessary --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.


MR. POCH:  -- responding to the points made by Hydro One in its two-pager, because he is not here to take the stand and do that, and I think we will take advantage of that, but it will be brief, and it will be filed quickly.


And Mr. Rogers, I'll try to get it to him before his argument-in-chief, but he indicated it wasn't -- wouldn't be difficult for him just to deal with it in reply anyway, if that's satisfactory with the Board --


MR. QUESNELLE:  That is satisfactory.  I misunderstood you.  I thought you were suggesting that Mr. Rogers had already agreed that we would accept this as expert evidence.

MS. LEA:  Yeah, I think that that's the point that I was hoping to make.  I believe that there is no dispute that Mr. Marcus's evidence can be received as that of an expert witness.


MR. ROGERS:  No, not from me.  I accept it.


MS. LEA:  All right.  Thank you.  Then what I would propose, Mr. Chairman, is that you make the finding that that evidence can be admitted as expert evidence.  Have you filed the curriculum vitae of your witness, Mr. Poch?


MR. POCH:  Yes, yes, it is filed with the evidence.


MS. LEA:  All right.  So from Board Staff's perspective the curriculum vitae is sufficient to demonstrate in our view the expertise of the witness, and I'd ask that the Board accept the evidence as expert evidence, thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  We'll have to take a look at the CV a little closer.


MS. HARE:  Maybe, Mr. Poch, you could just explain the expertise that Mr. Marcus has got, not in CDM -- I understand he's an expert in CDM -- but in rate design.


MR. POCH:  It would take me a few minutes.  Maybe I'll come back to that.  He is -- I know -- I can say this.  Mr. Marcus has given expert testimony in numerous jurisdictions, certainly CDM, but on many -- I think probably at this point in his career more frequently on rate-design issues.  I know just today he filed evidence in California on that topic, because I was competing for his time.


And if I can find his -- I don't happen to have the -- I don't have -- I haven't printed out the full-length -- the  CV.  I can return to that a little later.  Or else I'll --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Fair enough.


MR. POCH:  -- alert Board Staff where in the evidence that longer one is so the Board can address that.  I don't anticipate there will be a problem once you've had a chance to look at that, sir.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. POCH:  I do have cross materials which I hope are in front of you, if I could ask for an exhibit number for identification.


MS. LEA:  Yes, they'll be Exhibit No. K6.2 for identification, GEC compendium.

EXHIBIT NO. K6.2:  GEC Cross-Examination COMPENDIUM for Panel 4


MR. ROGERS:  Unfortunately, I don't think we have it, and more importantly, the witnesses do not have it.


MR. POCH:  Ah.  This was -- it did get sent out rather late last night by e-mail to everybody, but I have hard copies, and all the material is either from the record here or is -- or I think there's one page that's a Hydro One submission in the recent decoupling discussion.  So I think none of it will be a surprise to my friends.


MR. POCH:  All right.  Panel, this afternoon Ms. Girvan was discussing with you the derivation of the minimum -- the minimum system-based fixed charge.  You indicated that the Board in its earlier proceeding had given guidance of three options.


Mr. Andre, I think this was your evidence.  And you chose not to use the same option for the seasonal that you did for the other residential rate classes.  Do you recall that discussion?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, I do.


MR. POCH:  Right.  And I just mention that to refresh our memory that that was the EB-2007-0667 proceeding back in 2007 where those options for monthly service charge were enunciated by the Board.


MR. ANDRE:  Okay.  So let me back up then.  I reverse my answers, because I didn't understand your reference.  I thought you were talking about the fixed charges that we're proposing to set in this application.  So could you maybe clarify, because I didn't understand you.


MR. POCH:  Well, if you turn in my -- our compendium, K6.2, at page 3, the -- it's paginated in little square boxes in the upper right-hand corner.  I just -- and in fact, page 2, we just reproduced there the report of the Board from 2007 where they spell out options for a monthly service charge, and they give the lower and the upper bound.


Was that what you were referring to?  The Board gave you options that you could use, and you've gone with the upper bound for the monthly service charge in each case, but not for the seasonal; is that correct?  Have I got that right?


MR. ANDRE:  So I -- without reading through this and seeing the context, I'm not sure if the upper bound and lower bound monthly service charges here are the same ones that are upper bound and lower bound in the cost allocation model.


Certainly when I was making my comments about which one I chose, I was referring to the options in the cost allocation model.  I assume these are referring to the same thing, but again, I --


MR. POCH:  Well, I assume one's a precursor to the other.


MR. ANDRE:  Right.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  That's fine.  Nothing turns on the specific site here.  I was really just getting to the point that what you have in the Board in their model was options, and you've selected a different option for that one particular rate class than the other residential rate classes, for the reasons that you've enunciated.


MR. ANDRE:  For the seasonal class it wasn't so much as picking one of the other options.  I think we were clear that going with the same approach as the other rate classes, which is using a minimum system-based fixed charge would have been our preference, but we recognize that the impact on the very large number of low-volume seasonal customers made that challenging.


So we proposed something that would directionally go towards that minimum system-based charge but also took into account the impacts on those customers.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  So let me just ask you that.  This selection, was it for purposes of cost allocation to the rate class, or was it -- was that choice not to go with the third option only for the rate design for that class?


MR. ANDRE:  Yeah, the latter --


MR. POCH:  The latter.


MR. ANDRE:  Yeah, it had nothing to do with cost allocation per se.


MR. POCH:  So -- that's very helpful, thank you.


Now, in your response -- and I apologize, I don't have the exhibit number.  I think it was given one.  This was the two-page response you gave to Mr. Marcus's piece.


MR. ROGERS:  Exhibit 5.2, I believe, Mr. Chairman.


MR. POCH:  Thank you very much.


In 5.2, right at the top, Mr. Andre, you say:

"Despite Mr. Marcus's claim on page 2 of his submission that he is not challenging the use of the minimum system for cost allocation in this case, much of his evidence argues the fixed charges proposed by Hydro One are inappropriate."


First of all, in his evidence Mr. Marcus explicitly pointed out he isn't challenging the minimum system cost approach.  And he underlined the words "for cost allocation."  And that's in a separate part of his evidence from where he turns to rate design.


Do you understand that Mr. Marcus is making a distinction about the use of that approach for the two different purposes?  That is, one being cost allocation, cost to the rate class, and the other is rate design within a class?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes.  I understood that.  But then he goes on to the minimum system methodology is part of the cost allocation, and it is also the basis for that minimum fixed charge that's proposed in sheet 02.  It's used for both purposes.


MR. POCH:  I understand, but you just a moment ago said you're prepared to deviate from that -- in regard to the seasonal class, for example -- because other factors came into play; correct?  The fact that you used the minimum system for cost allocation to the rate class doesn't require you to use it for the rate design?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes.  It doesn't require the use.


MR. POCH:  And you've deviated where you felt it's appropriate?


MR. ANDRE:  Correct.


MR. POCH:  And we deviate when we do rate mitigation, we deviate when we do low-income assistance, and we could deviate where there's a concern about deterring conservation; isn't that true?  It's a policy choice?


MR. ANDRE:  Certainly part of the reason we went with the third scenario, the minimum system-based fixed charge, is because we believe that it offers the best alignment between the costs that the model allocates to rate classes and then the recovery of those costs.


The -- it allocates a certain number of costs based on the number of customers, and therefore we feel it's appropriate that those costs that are allocated based on number of customers be collected on the same basis of number of customers on -- as a fixed charge.


MR. POCH:  No one is disputing that the costs have to be collected.  Once you've allocated it to the class, you have to collect them.  The question is how.  That's the rate design question.


MR. ANDRE:  Right.  And as I said, I believe the minimum fixed charge offers the best alignment between the two, and is the most fair from a cost causality perspective.


But I agree, we have deviated in the case of the seasonal class, for the reasons stated in the evidence.


MR. POCH:  And cost causality is not a simple concept, is it?  It's based on this idea of giving customers the right signal that they -- based on the drivers of the cost; fair?


MR. ANDRE:  I don't know if it's a signal so much, because I don't know that the distribution charge really is material enough to provide signals.


I think the primary consideration for me in rate design is that the rate design results in charges that customers pay that fairly reflect the cost of serving them.


MR. POCH:  We'll come back to that.  Thank you.


Now, you've indicated in your reply that what you've done in the proposal to increase fixed charges is directionally consistent with the Board's direction in its 2012-0410 decoupling process.  Do you recall that?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes.


MR. POCH:  And are you hoping that the change you're now proposing in the fixed charge will -- you'll be able to stay the course without further review for five years?


MR. ANDRE:  That was -- that was -- that's our expectation, but I think we have a couple of interrogatory responses where we made it quite clear that if the Board makes a ruling on rate design proposal, that we have annual adjustment mechanisms that would allow us to align with the Board's decision if they say that:  You know what?  You can't wait five years; you have to make a change earlier.


MR. POCH:  Well, the Board hasn't spoken yet.  They have given a general indication of the direction that they want to go, but they haven't spoken on form of decoupling.  And I think you'd agree there's a healthy debate going on and there's a lot of options that the Board, I'm sure, is wrestling with?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, I would agree with you.


MR. POCH:  All right.  And it's quite possible, is it not, that the Board could select an option that it would require an unwinding of your proposal, that it chooses to collect -- to serve the policy goals in some other -- through some other mechanism of decoupling?


MR. ANDRE:  I don't -- I don't see that as very likely, Mr. Poch.  The recommendation falls out of a minimum system-based approach, and I don't think anything that the Board is recommending with respect to rate design -- certainly there were no hints or suggestions in the report that they would be reducing fixed charges.


So I'm not sure that I can accept your premise.


MR. POCH:  Let's -- let me ask you this.  In your submissions to the Board in that case, Hydro One made a couple of points, not controversial.


You said that you identified that an important role for the Board in changing rate structure would be to educate the public about the rate design changes.  Do you recall that?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, I do.


MR. POCH:  Would you agree that would be a hard task for the Board if different utilities are going off in different directions?


The Board's not set up to do it on a utility-by-utility basis; this Board functions at a provincial level.


MR. ANDRE:  I would agree with that.  I think our comment was based on the fact that the Board pro -- the proposal to move to 100 percent fixed charge would have very serious, very significant impacts on our customers. And we thought that somebody, you know, should make it clear that this is the direction that the province is moving in, and that that expression of the direction would best come from the Board.


MR. POCH:  Whether the Board goes with 100 percent fixed or with other approach -- such as the one my clients are recommending, or others -- whatever approach it takes, if it's a province-wide approach, the fact -- there's going to be some value, would you agree, in people moving lockstep so the Board can play that education role?


So it may not be convenient for the Board to let you go for five years with something else.  Do you foresee that as a potential issue?


MR. ANDRE:  As I said, we wouldn't -- the expectation was that we wouldn't go for five years.  If the Board made a decision in the interim, we would reflect the Board's decision as part of our annual adjustment.


MR. POCH:  Right.  And another concern might be that the -– in fact, again, in your submissions, I think it was Hydro One that said it should be coordinated with a fresh look at bill presentation, because that is part of improving customer understanding and public education.


And again, that's going to have to happen province-wide basis because it's done by provincial regulation; correct?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. POCH:  So there's the possibility of having to do a change.  It might be a year from now, perhaps, when the Board finalizes that, or perhaps sooner when the Board finalizes those considerations.


Mr. Marcus observes there would be, he would expect, considerable customer response to changes in fixed charges.  And I note in our -- I've reproduced this in our materials at page 1.  You, sir, in the technical conference said -- it's circled there -– quote:

"I can certainly speak anecdotally as well that when I deal with customer care issues, when I help our customer care folks deal with customer issues, certainly a lot of those are related to, you know, the amount of the fixed charge."


So would you agree it's a -- fixed charge tends to be -– it's not the third rail, but it tends to spark interest from amongst your residential customers, certainly?


MR. ANDRE:  Certainly the seasonal customers, which I think if you went back a page or two you'd see that the question was related to seasonal customers.  And yes, with seasonal customers, for the reasons that I mentioned before, that perception that they're having to pay a service charge when there's no electricity being delivered to them is one that we encounter quite a lot from seasonal customers.


Not so much, that I'm aware of, from other residential classes.


MR. POCH:  Would you agree that the higher the fixed charge as a proportion of anyone's rates, the more likely it is that they're going to be concerned about the charges they're receiving when their electricity use has been low?  So for low-use customers, generally, this might be increasingly a concern?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes.  I would agree.


MR. POCH:  All right.  In that report I took you to a few moments ago at pages 2 and 3 of our materials, the Board there, they were being urged to consider a further range of options at that time.  And the Board, in dismissing that, said, and I quote:

"The Board considers it to be inappropriate to make significant changes to the ceiling for the MSC..."


That would be the minimum systems charge -- or the monthly service charge.

"...at this time, given the number of issues that remain to be examined.  The appropriateness of the methodology cited above used to set the MSC is an issue that will be examined within the scope of the rate review.  The rate review will also examine the role of rate design in achieving various objectives, including conservation of energy.  Both of these undertakings will have determinative impacts on the fixed/variable ratio policy."


Would you agree that that's a pretty clear indication from the Board that they foresaw the need to review both the methodology and the broader question of the role of rate design with regard to other objectives, and the one it explicitly mentions is conservation in looking at this question of restructuring monthly charges, fixed charges?  Fair?  And that's the review that we're seeing occur in the generic consultation right now.


MR. ANDRE:  This was a 2007 report.  I guess I'm struggling a little bit with seeing -- I can't -- don't know for sure whether the 2007 report referred to here, there is a direct line of sight to the report that the Board is examining now, the rate design proposal.


MR. POCH:  You yourself in your comments on Mr. Marcus's evidence expressed concern that he is raising broader issues that are best dealt with in that other proceeding, correct?


MR. ANDRE:  Mm-hmm.


MR. POCH:  And they would include the impact on conservation, for example.


MR. ANDRE:  Yes.


MR. POCH:  And so you're not disagreeing, this is something the Board is looking at in that broader consultation.


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, I would agree.


MR. POCH:  All right.  And since -- certainly since 2007, very recently, the landscape in regard to government policy on conservation has changed significantly, has it not, with the long-term energy plan announcement that we were going to be -- it's a conservation-first approach?


MR. ANDRE:  My colleague is more familiar with CDM-related developments, so --


MR. BUT:  Mr. Poch, can you repeat your question, please?


MR. POCH:  Well, I'm just saying the landscape has changed a lot in the last few years on the importance of encouraging conservation.  You've witnessed a billion-dollar investment in smart meters and we've -- now we've had a major policy announcement for the government which is -- I think the subtitle is "conservation first".  You'd agree that there's a -- we have an enhanced emphasis on conservation as a matter of public policy --


MR. BUT:  Well, you used a word and asked me whether I agree with an enhanced.  But I'm going to say that the CDM initiative has started going back to 2005, so this is not something that's suddenly happening in the last few years.  So I would say this is the continuation of the CDM, conservation and demand management policy --


MR. POCH:  The policies will speak for themselves.  I don't need to argue about it with you.


But, now, Mr. Andre, you in your response to Mr. Marcus said he raised several issues that -- including the impact of conservation and low-income customers so on, which you say are best left to the generic process.  So I'm just -- I'm frankly a little puzzled.  Are you saying that the effect of the Board -- the Board having been in the midst of a generic review is asymmetrical?  It estops us from talking about CDM or low impacts of your proposed changes.  It allows you -- but it allows you -- permits you to propose such changes that may threaten CDM erosion or low-income customer dis-benefit, and we must leave them unchallenged, and the Panel should consider your proposal blind to any potential negatives.  Is that what you're saying?


MR. ANDRE:  No, not at all, Mr. Poch.  What I was driving at was that the -- in the context of an individual utilities application for rates and the fixed charges that it's proposing, I think making a broader policy decision and applying it to just one utility, when, as you indicated, the other proceeding is still ongoing, the debate is still ongoing, you indicated there's various sides to that debate, it just seemed a little incongruous to me that they would take a stand and make a decision applicable to just Hydro One when they haven't really fully explored the issue that's going to apply to all utilities.


MR. POCH:  But you're here asking for a change in your rate design in a particular direction that has impacts in these areas.  Isn't that exactly the problem that we face when you do that?  That either the Board considers your change in the context of all the issues it raises, or it should say to you, Hold off.  We're looking at it in the broader picture.  Wouldn't you agree that's a more logical framework?


MR. ANDRE:  I don't -- I'm not -- I did not mean to suggest that the issue of the impact of the fixed charges that we're proposing, exploring the impact of the fixed charges that we're proposing, I think absolutely that's fair game.  That's part of our application.


So, no, I didn't mean to suggest that that examination shouldn't be done.  We've been very clear about the basis for the fixed charges that we're proposing.  And we believe they align with what the Board would recommend per their cost allocation method.


MR. POCH:  All right.  Well, then let's look at a couple of those issues, shall we?  In our cross materials at page 4 I've reproduced a page of your submission in that broader decoupling case, and I've underlined portions there.


You said:

"A fixed-charge approach would reduce the motivation for customers responding to CDM programs because it would reduce the magnitude of the bill savings and extend the payback period for CDM initiatives."


Wouldn't you agree that that's true of any shift towards higher fixed charges, obviously to lesser -- lesser degree, depending on how far you go?  So it's going to be true of your proposal here to some extent?


MR. ANDRE:  Our proposal across all of our revenue, across all of our rate classes, increases the fixed charge from -- the fixed/variable split from 40/60 to 42/58, and I would say that this comment that applies to a 100 percent fixed charge, a much, much, much lesser extent under our proposal, where we're proposing to increase the fixed component by 2 percent across all classes.


MR. POCH:  All right.  Certainly your proposal is not as extreme, if you'll forgive me, as what the Board has floated as one option.  And I'll come back to your numbers, because, of course, we're into the problem of averages versus effects on particular individuals.  You've acknowledged that problem.  We'll come back to the numbers in a few minutes.


But it's just a matter of degree, isn't it?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes, and in this case a very large difference between the two elements.


MR. POCH:  All right.  Fair enough.


And you go on to say:

"Reduced need from customers to invest in CDM will make it increasingly more expensive for distributors to market CDM programs, as they will have to increase incentives for customer participation."


And it would make you more -- and you go on to say it would make it more difficult for you to meet your CDM targets.


Same point.  It's just a matter of degree?  Correct?


MR. ANDRE:  And my response is the same as I gave.


MR. POCH:  Now, Mr. Marcus -- and you can see this at page 9 of our cross book.  I've excerpted that page from his evidence -- he went off and he went and did an analysis, which is several pages of numbers at the back of his materials.  He found elasticities from studies from other jurisdictions in the range of .075 to 0.3.


And he observed in his evidence, based on choosing the midpoint of those studies at .15, he said:

"Higher usage due to elasticity of demand as a rough mid-case estimate of 0.15 could essentially negate over three-fourths of Hydro One's 2011 to '14 energy conservation programs."


Now, let me just continue, if you will, if you can follow me.  Mr. But, in your reply you address that point, enumerated point number 1.  You said, under the heading "price elasticity":

"The GE consultant on page 13 of the main document used an estimate of minus 0.15 for price elasticity in the calculation of the increased fixed-charge impact.  This assumption is chosen as the midpoint."


So on -- of these studies.  B.C. and Manitoba.  And then you say:

"Based on the annual econometric model results filed by Hydro One in its transmission rate application, the current price elasticity Ontario is likely in the range of .06 and .07, so the impact calculation prepared by the consultant would be much lower."


First of all, what do you mean by "likely"?  Is this an elasticity study, or are you interpolating from some other definition?


MR. BUT:  This is -- what we reference here is basically -- Mr. Poch, I guess I've seen you many times in our transmission rate case, and I believe you have cross-examined or other intervenors cross-examined me on our econometric model.


Remember, in our transmission rate cases, or just like the econometric analysis in our distribution rate cases, we have details, models, documenting the econometric model.


And for example, in our last transmission rate case that was approved and even for the upcoming transmission rate case that Hydro One has filed today, in appendix B, for example, we have the annual econometric model, and that econometric model pertains to the province.


And what I'm quoting here in terms of the price elasticity is based on the analysis of that econometric model that we did for Ontario.  And that is reason why we state that this is the -- we -- this is our best guess of the current price elasticity in Ontario, compared to what the consultant has used in terms of BC Hydro in 2008 and Manitoba in 2004.


I just want to point out that I have not read those studies, but those studies pertain, to me, BC Hydro and Manitoba Hydro, and they were done in 2008 and 2004.  And I don't really know what information they used, but I know what information we have in terms of what we thought was coming off from our econometric model for Ontario.


And based on our analysis in the model, we believe that the price elasticity is not as high as 0.15. as the midpoint chosen by the consultant.


That is the statement we're making here.


MR. POCH:  I understand.  I'm just asking:  Is it an elasticity study, or is this an assumption you're drawing out of that study, that your impression is the elasticity is roughly half of what this midpoint is?


MR. BUT:  This is the elasticity as part of the equation that we derive.  It is not a study.


MR. POCH:  All right.  Let me turn you to page 7 and page 8 of our cross materials.


We asked you in an interrogatory, No. 31, to:

"Provide all studies that HONI has conducted in last ten years regarding the elasticity of demand of its system or any of its customer classes."


You said you had none.  And we asked you, similarly:

"...any studies in your possession in the last ten years, regardless of who conducted the study, regarding the elasticity of demand in Ontario, any customer classes."


And again, you said you didn't have any studies.


MR. BUT:  Mr. Poch, I think those are all true statements that we responded in the IR.  I think what you asked was whether we have done any studies and whether we have in our possession any studies.  And we have not done any studies.


Studies, to me, is taking a major effort, doing analysis, and come up with a report.


We have not done that.  We have not published a report.  And I've not seen people doing –- publishing reports, doing elasticity analysis by rate class for Ontario, for that matter.


So I believe our response are correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. But, could I ask you to slow down for the reporter?  Thank you.


MR. POCH:  Well, Mr. Chairman, I can only say I don't know where to proceed with that.  It's pretty late in the hearing to start asking for what analysis they've done and having my witness look at it.  I think we'll leave it where it is, but I would suggest that the responses I received to those interrogatories were not really in the spirit the Board intends that process to be conducted in.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, that's -- sorry, go ahead.


MR. ROGERS:  I just want to observe that this has been filed, apparently, in the transmission case.  And that --


MR. POCH:  I'm not a party to the transmission case.


MR. ROGERS:  Well, I mean, you know... well...


MR. POCH:  We asked an explicit interrogatory and were told no.  I asked a moment ago if these were studies and Mr. But explained yes, it's a study; it gives us this econometric result.


And now he is making a distinction about the form of studies --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Poch, that isn't what --


MR. POCH:  I'm sorry, sir.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I heard Mr. But and I go back to the transcript, that he said explicitly this is not a study something to derive out of an equation.


MR. POCH:  All right, Mr. But.  Your bottom line is 0.6, 0.7, roughly half of -- just under half of what Mr. Marcus chose for the midpoint, so rather than negating 75 percent of Hydro One's four-year CDM result, it's only negating 38 percent; is that the bottom line?


MR. BUT:  I believe whatever number you calculate may be correct, because I have not looked into the detailed calculations done by the consultant.


MR. POCH:  Thank you.  We asked you explicitly in Interrogatories 29 and 30, which are reproduced at pages 5 and 6 of my materials, whether you've done any studies on the impact of changes to the customer charge on total consumption, or were aware of any in Ontario.  And your answer was no in each case.


So I take it that you have not looked at -- you had no information to offer us on the impact on conservation of this proposal; is that fair?


MR. BUT:  I disagree with the statement you just made, Mr. Poch.


We are commenting on the consultant report, and I believe we do not -- although we do not have major studies done, but we do have analysis embedded in the model, econometric model, in our equations, and we provided that information.


So I do not accept your statement.


MR. POCH:  Again, we asked you for studies, and because I used the word "studies" in my interrogatory, you gave us no information, and that's that.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. But, the econometric model that you're referring to, how does it tie in, or how would it provide Mr. Poch with the area that he is exploring right now?  Is there a direct connection?  You're suggesting that within there, there are equations that were used that came up with the elasticity number, but that study itself is not something that you would see pertains to what he is talking about?


MR. BUT:  The analysis that we quoted is part of the econometric analysis that we did for Ontario as part of our transmission rate case.


And inside the econometric model, we do have a price variable, and so therefore the coefficients pertaining to that variable will give us the price -- we can derive the price elasticities.


MR. QUESNELLE:  And is that on the record here?


MR. POCH:  No, sir.  That's what we were just talking about a moment ago.  What I was just asking about was now whether there are studies about impact on conservation, and the answers I got were no, and I --


Mr. But, are you saying these econometric models --


MR. BUT:  Mr. Poch, I believe you mentioned many things over here.  What I'm responding right now is whether we have the analysis within -- embedded in the equation pertains to price elasticity, and I gave you the answer already.


And now you are relating to another item --


MR. POCH:  Yes.


MR. BUT:  -- pertaining to CDM.


MR. POCH:  Yes.


MR. BUT:  We have not -- we do not have an econometric model within.  To do the analysis, we have a study, but we have done a lot of studies on CDM, but it's not regarding fixed charges or other things.


MR. POCH:  All right.  That's what I was asking.  Let's be clear.


You have not studied what the impact of your change in the fix charge is going to be on customer conservation?


MR. BUT:  We do not have any econometric model analysis regarding cost-effectiveness of CDM or fixed charges.


MR. POCH:  Thank you.  That's helpful.


I want to turn to low-income impacts or low-user impacts.  Mr. Marcus, in his evidence, points out there is additional problem with higher fixed charges, because it tends to shift costs from -- it can shift costs from large users, who are statistically likely to be wealthier users, to small users, who are statistically likely to be poorer.


In your reply, Mr. But, you said that -- you said:

"The GEC consultants stated on page 18 that increased customer service charges disproportionately affect lower-income residential customers.  Based on the billing analysis undertaken by Hydro One, low-income residential customers actually have electricity consumption profiles that are similar to residential customers.  Hence Mr. Marcus's statement may be incorrect and not applicable to Hydro One."


First of all, I want to -- we may be passing ships on jargon here.  You refer to profiles.  Are you referring to the load profile, the shape of the load there?  Is that the meaning?


MR. BUT:  Well, when I say load profile meaning consumption profiles, and --


MR. POCH:  All right.


MR. BUT:  -- I -- in here, Mr. Poch, the key point I'm making here is the statement that increased customer service charges will disproportionate affect lower-income residential customer.  The beef I have here is the use of the term "lower-income residential customer" is incorrect, because lower-income customer actually, based on the consumption profile information that we have examined, they have similar consumption profile as regular residential customers, so therefore I would disagree with you that the increase -- the increased customer-service charges will disproportionate affect the lower-income residential customers.  That's the point I'm trying to point out.


MR. POCH:  We -- I didn't reproduce this, so I'll just read it into the record.  We asked you in Interrogatory 24 to provide all studies that HONI has conducted in the last ten years regarding the relationship of income, housing size and type, and/or number of persons to residential electricity use, and you indicated you have not conducted any studies into this directly.  However, this information was used as inputs to the econometric analysis, and you gave us the reference there to Exhibit A, tab 16, schedule 3, appendix C, H, and I.


I turned that up, and it was a study that simply looked at gathered data about conservation practices of various customers.  Did ask for income information --


MR. BUT:  That's correct.


MR. POCH:  But it didn't look at -- it didn't draw any conclusions about any correlations between electricity use, quantity of use, and income group.  Would --


MR. BUT:  Income was not available.  That was examined --


MR. POCH:  All right.  So that was the answer there, and that doesn't -- that you didn't have, and in number 25 we asked you:

"Please provide all studies in Hydro One Network Inc.'s possession undertaken in the last ten years regardless of who conducted the study regarding the relation of income and so on to electricity usage."


And you said you're unaware of any studies.


MR. BUT:  Again, that is a true statement, Mr. Poch.  We have not done any studies pertaining to income.


MR. POCH:  So we've got no information of you there.  Now -- and now you're telling me that you actually have information, in your view.


MR. BUT:  This is not -- Mr. Poch, this is not a study that we did and published.  This is using analysis of our customer data pertaining to a select group of customers that we know of belong to the low income, and we did compare the profile of these group of customer, and that is this analysis I'm talking about.


MR. POCH:  Now, Mr. Marcus provides a lot of data in his materials from studies that have looked explicitly at this question of income and electricity use.  And you're just saying for some reason none of that is applicable here.  Is that what you're saying?


MR. BUT:  I'm not making that statement either.  I'm just saying that the statement that he made saying that increase customer-service charges will disproportionate affect lower income, I believe that is -- that statement may be incorrect.


MR. POCH:  Okay.  So you're not disputing his point that there seems to be a correlation between income and electricity use level?


MR. BUT:  I'm not disputing -- since we have not done any detailed analysis, I'm not disputing his study per se.


MR. POCH:  Well, he produces Statistics Canada data that suggests that quite clearly.  You're not disputing that.


MR. BUT:  Yes, I'm not disputing the validity of his analysis, but Mr. Poch, I want to point out that the information that he used, now that you mention it, is -- pertains to Stats Canada data pertaining to a much larger group of populations.


MR. POCH:  Yes, well, it's broken out, Canada and Ontario, isn't it?


MR. BUT:  Right.  But they are not specific to Hydro One customers.


MR. POCH:  No, it's just Ontario.


MR. BUT:  Yes, right.


MR. POCH:  All right.


MR. BUT:  I'm talking here -- I'm talking about Hydro One.


MR. POCH:  Let's then, leaving aside how tight a correlation there is between low income and low use, let's just look at the impact on low use, and can you turn to page 10 of the -- of my materials.  We just took some data out of your sheets there for ease of reference.


And can we agree that the -- looking at the top box there, there's a clear pattern that the total bill change that we're seeing as a result, large measure as a result of this rate redesign, is to -- is that the low users are taking the biggest hit, and the high users are getting either the lesser hit or the bigger benefit.  Agreed?  In those three rate classes where --


MR. BUT:  Mr. Poch, I would not disagree with this statement, and I -- perhaps I will make it more clear.  When I say this statement made by the consultant, increased customer-service charges disproportionate affect lower-income residential customer, and I said that is the incorrect statement, however, if you change that to it will disproportionate affect low electricity consumption user, that would be a true statement.


MR. POCH:  Right.  And then we can leave it to the Board to decide whether it thinks the Ontario data is at all applicable.  And that's fine.


Now, you earlier said -- and you say in your response that you're not convinced that this magnitude of impact from the fixed-price change will have any significant impact on customers' behaviour regarding CDM.  Do you recall that?  And you say that the average -- on average the fixed component goes from 40 to 42 percent?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes.


MR. POCH:  All right.  First of all, that's an average, right?


MR. ANDRE:  That's across the total revenue that Hydro One collects, yes.


MR. POCH:  Right.  And if we look at your residential classes, about two-thirds of the customers are actually going to see a much higher percent increase, and that gets offset by those seeing a drop, correct?


MR. ANDRE:  That's correct.


MR. POCH:  All right.  So that on a -- for particular customers and particular uses, there is a much more significant effect.


MR. ANDRE:  Yeah, the effect varies depending on usage, yes.


MR. POCH:  Now, you go on to say:

"Under Hydro One's proposal, the fixed distribution revenue component of the total bill for a typical customer in the UR, urban residential, class will only increase about 12 to 15 percent of their 2015 total bill, as shown on the bill impact sheet."


And you give the reference, G2, tab 4, schedule 1, attachment 1, page 2.  I've reproduced that page at the back of my materials here.  And I think -- correct me if I'm wrong.  I've circled the relevant numbers to use, and it would be the service-charge number, current and proposed, and in each case compared as a percent of the total bill, which is the bottom row.  Is that fair?


MR. ANDRE:  In the current-charge column the figures quoted in my response included the 3.92 smart meter adder, the reason being that in 2015 the cost of that adder, the cost of smart meters, have been rolled into the base revenue requirements, so the fixed charge in '15 really is including all the smart meter costs, so I felt it appropriate to include the smart meter adder number as part of the fixed charge.


And on customer bills, customer bills don't see a distinction between the service charge and the smart meter adder.  They're combined together.


MR. POCH:  That presumably explains why I was going to -- I got very different numbers than you.  I got it going from 9 to 15, and that's --


MR. ANDRE:  Right.


MR. POCH:  -- the difference.


MR. ANDRE:  Yeah.


MR. POCH:  All right.  Thank you.


Now, finally, Mr. Marcus made the suggestion in his evidence that either you or your consultant or both of you have missed a double-count on service lines in deriving your minimum system values that underlie your fixed charge proposal.


Mr. Andre, you were good enough to indicate in your reply that you've looked at it, and Mr. Marcus is correct.  And you say you will change the cost allocation if the Board thinks it appropriate.


Now, Mr. Marcus estimated that that mistake produces changes to the monthly charges in a range of 50 cents to $2.50 per customer per month, so I just -- with a million customers, that's about a 6 to $30 million range, depending -- I don't know where the average lies.  I don't know where the average customer is in there.  Somewhere in the middle there.


That being the case, since it's clearly an error, is there any reason why the Board needs to delve into this and have to make a decision to tell to you do it?  Or -- is there any reason you're not volunteering to update your evidence to fix your mistake?


MR. ANDRE:  Well, I think we are volunteering to do that.  Obviously, ultimately it's the Board's decision, but I think the intent is, yes, we believe that we should make that --


MR. POCH:  So we can expect that that will change.


And I wanted to ask you, because there was another point that came up earlier in VECC's cross where you were agreeing with counsel, with Mr. Janigan, that there were some zeroes showing up for the PLCC adjustment that seemed to indicate there was a problem in the sheet somewhere.  Maybe in the Board's sheet, or it may be in the application sheet.  I couldn't tell you.


Is there any reason why we shouldn't expect that would be -- that's also going to go in the same direction.  That's going to tend to lower the fixed charge relative to what you're proposing; correct?  Correcting that problem?  It can only go that way?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes.  It would lower the fixed charge.


MR. POCH:  Can we expect that will be done before a final Rate order is made by this Board?


MR. ANDRE:  When I looked at that change from the compendium, it wasn't clear to me what the fix would be.  So I'm not sure that that is something that we could resolve.


MR. POCH:  It might be too difficult to resolve in the timeline we're talking about here?


MR. ANDRE:  Yes.


MR. POCH:  All right.  Might I suggest to you that these kinds of errors are yet further reason why it might be a good idea to step back from this and make some changes in the context of the guidance the Board is going to give us in the generic case?


MR. ANDRE:  The seasonal rate class, which is where the bulk of those zero values appeared, I would remind the Board that that is not one of the classes where we're proposing to go to the fixed, the minimum system-based fixed charge.


So I don't see a problem with the value that we're proposing.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Andre, in what form would the update -- the correction on the double-count that Mr. Marcus has pointed out, how would the Board expect to see it?  I'm trying to think of the magnitude of it, for one thing, but how many pieces of evidence will change as a result of that?


MR. ANDRE:  We wouldn't propose to change any of the filed evidence.  We would expect that the Board will be making decisions about the revenue requirement that is to be recovered, as well as other decisions with respect to cost allocation and rate design.


So we would fully expect to have to rerun the model as part of the draft rate order.  And at that time, the change that we're talking about is the -- there is a sheet in the model where you identified the percent of the US of A accounts, how much should be allocated based on customer versus demand.  And right now that number is 54 percent, and this change would be 51 percent.


So you would be able to very clearly see that number updated in that cell in the model, to satisfy yourself that we have incorporated that correction.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Rogers, do you think it would be appropriate we do something by way of undertaking to identify this issue, so it doesn't get lost in the --


MR. ROGERS:  That's fine, sir.  Yes, I think that's a good idea.  Maybe we can give some thought to -- about the magnitude here before the final number --


MR. QUESNELLE:  If it's going to be a decision point, yes, it would be nice to have it framed as that so that the Board can give its instructions.


MR. ANDRE:  If this might be helpful, Mr. Quesnelle, I could provide what the updated fixed and variable charges would be.  As I say, it is relatively easy to do.  So I could make that change and then you would have on the record what the fixed and variable charges would be, as compared to as proposed, if we made the adjustment.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I think that might be satisfactory.  I can't speak for Mr. Poch, but what we would like to do is have an easy way to identify this as an issue without having to rerun everything and get a huge evidence update for something that's relatively minor, or that is discrete enough that we can identify it and deal with it in the final stages.


MR. POCH:  Sir, I was going to suggest if we simply had an undertaking, that they would indicate the change to that percentage that this -- correcting this is, and an undertaking that in the final derivation of rates, pursuant to the Board's order, they will make that change, whether to the existing fixed charge or whether to their new proposal, should the Board approve it.  Either way, it needs to get changed.


That would satisfy us.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.


MS. LEA:  I was going to mention, Mr. Chair, we had a series of questions on this as well.  And Staff is interested also on the impact of that isolated change.


Now, I don't know whether that's something you wish to address by undertaking or I can just ask about it tomorrow when I ask my questions.


MR. ANDRE:  So the undertaking that I would propose is you would see the as-filed fixed and variable charge.  And then the -- using the updated minimum system value, what the fixed and variable charge would be.


I don't know if that would satisfy --


MS. LEA:  That would satisfy us.  It just wasn't exactly what Mr. Poch was describing.  So I just want to understand exactly what you're proposing to file.


MR. POCH:  I'm concerned, Mr. Chair, that -- our position, obviously, is that they should not be making a shift in the fixed charge ratio at this time.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I understand.


MR. POCH:  In that scenario, we also wish to see this correction made.  So I --


MR. QUESNELLE:  We may all have different reasons for it, Mr. Poch, and Board Staff will be looking at it, and others, but I think all I was interested in from the Board's perspective is we identify it as an issue, we understand the quantum one way or the other, and I think as -- comparing it against as-filed in the proposal makes sense.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  J6.4.

UNDERTAKING NO. J6.4:  TO SHOW THE 2014 CURRENT FIXED AND VARIABLE CHARGES, THE AS-FILED FIXED AND VARIABLE CHARGES, AND WHAT THE FIXED AND VARIABLE CHARGES WOULD BE USING THE UPDATED MINIMUM SYSTEM VALUE.


MR. POCH:  Thank you.


MR. ROGERS:  It shall be done.


MR. POCH:  Mr. Chairman, those are all my questions.  Thank you very much.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.


It's 4:30.  I suggest we call it a day.


And as far as order tomorrow, Ms. Lea, who do we expect in tomorrow?  Has anything changed?


MS. LEA:  No, I don't think so.  I'm estimating that there are about four hours of cross-examination, not including Board questions.


If, in fact, people stick to the estimates that were originally given to me, we expect to hear from Mr. Shepherd, Mr. Buonaguro, Dr. Higgin and Board Staff, though in what order it's not clear to me.  I presumed that would be the order, but I do not know.  So Staff is quite happy to go last.


And that adds up to about four hours in total from the original estimates provided.  And then, of course, we have Mr. Cowan coming on the 18th at 10:30.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Just have to finish off the schedule here.  Ms. Hare has a question on the last undertaking.


And we know Mr. Cowan is not available until Thursday.  There is not a chance we can deal with Mr. Cowan tomorrow while we're all here.


MS. LEA:  I don't know.  I can certainly ask him.


MR. QUESNELLE:  We have it set aside for Thursday morning, but if we were to finish with this panel tomorrow, it would certainly be -– and there was time left...


MS. LEA:  I will try and find out if he can attend in the late afternoon tomorrow.  It was my impression that Thursday was his better day, but I can find that out.


MR. QUESNELLE:  That would be great.  Thank you.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. Hare?


MS. HARE:  Just that last undertaking, just to make it easy to see the difference, could you add a column also to show what it currently is, the fixed and the variable, and then the as-filed and then the revised so that we see it all together?


MR. ANDRE:  Okay.  So the 2014 current fixed and variable charges?


MS. HARE:  Yes.


MR. ANDRE:  Okay.  Certainly.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  With that, everyone have a good evening, and we'll see you tomorrow morning.  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:31 p.m.
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